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UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C.
In the Matter of
CERTAIN ELECTRONIC NICOTINE Investigation No. 337-TA-1139
DELIVERY SYSTEMS AND
COMPONENTS THEREOF

ISSUANCE OF LIMITED EXCLUSION ORDER AND
CEASE AND DESIST ORDERS; TERMINATION OF THE INVESTIGATION

AGENCY: U.S. International Trade Commission.
ACTION: Notice.

SUMMARY: Notice is hereby given that the U.S. International Trade Commission has
determined to issue a limited exclusion order (“LEO”) and cease and desist orders (“CDOs”)
directed to respondent Eonsmoke, LLC (“Eonsmoke”) and defaulted respondent XFire, Inc.
(“XFire”) in the above-captioned investigation. The investigation is terminated in its entirety.

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT: Cathy Chen, Office of the General Counsel,
U.S. International Trade Commission, 500 E Street SW, Washington, D.C. 20436, telephone
202-205-2392. Copies of non-confidential documents filed in connection with this investigation
may be viewed on the Commission’s electronic docket (EDIS) at https://edis.usitc.gov. For help
accessing EDIS, please email EDIS3Help@usitc.gov. General information concerning the
Commission may also be obtained by accessing its Internet server at

https://www.usitc.gov. Hearing-impaired persons are advised that information on this matter can
be obtained by contacting the Commission’s TDD terminal on (202) 205-1810.

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION: On December 13, 2018, the Commission instituted
this investigation under section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended, 19 U.S.C. 1337,
based on a complaint filed on behalf of Juul Labs, Inc. (“JLI”) of San Francisco, California. 83
FR 64156 (Dec. 13, 2018). The complaint, as amended and supplemented, alleges violations of
section 337 based upon the importation into the United States, the sale for importation, and the
sale within the United States after importation of certain electronic nicotine delivery systems and
components thereof by reason of infringement of certain claims of U.S. Patent Nos.: 10,070,669
(“the ’669 patent™); 10,076,139 (“the *139 patent™); 10,045,568 (“the *568 patent™); 10,058,130
(“the *130 patent”); and 10,104,915 (“the *915 patent”) (collectively, “the Asserted Patents™). Id.
The Commission’s notice of investigation named twenty-one respondents, including Eonsmoke
of Clifton, New Jersey and XFire of Stafford, Texas. /d. at 64157. The Office of Unfair Import
Investigations (“OUII”) is also a party to the investigation.
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On February 25, 2019, the ALJ granted JLI’s motion to amend the complaint and notice
of investigation to change the name of respondent Bo Vaping of Garden City, New York to
ECVD/MMS Wholesale LLC of Garden City, New York and the name of respondent MMS
Distribution LLC of Rock Hill, New York to MMS/ECVD LLC of Garden City, New York. See
Order No. 8 (Feb. 25, 2019), not rev’d by Comm’n Notice (Mar. 25, 2019).

On February 28, 2019, the ALJ granted a motion to amend the complaint and notice of
investigation to change the name of respondent Limitless Mod Co. of Simi Valley, California to
Limitless MOD, LLC of Simi Valley, California. See Order No. 10 (Feb. 28, 2019), not rev’d by
Comm’n Notice (Mar. 27, 2019).

On May 21, 2019, the ALJ granted a motion to amend the complaint and notice of
investigation to change the name of respondent Ziip Lab Co., Ltd. of Guangdong Province,
China to SS Group Holdings of Guangdong Province, China. See Order No. 26 (May 21, 2019),
not rev’d by Comm’n Notice (June 14, 2019).

Before the evidentiary hearing, JLI settled with the following eight respondents: J Well
France S.A.S. of Paris, France; ECVD/MMS Wholesale LLC; MMS/ECVD LLC; The Electric
Tobacconist, LLC of Boulder, Colorado; ALD Group Limited of Guangdong Province, China;
Flair Vapor LLC of South Plainfield, New Jersey; Shenzhen Joecig Technology Co., Ltd. of
Guangdong Province, China; and Myle Vape Inc. of Jamaica, New York. See Order No. 13
(Mar. 12, 2019), not rev’d by Comm’n Notice (Apr. 5, 2019); Order No. 16 (Mar. 21, 2019), not
rev’d by Comm’n Notice (Apr. 4, 2019); Order No. 31 (July 30, 2019), not rev’d by Comm’n
Notice (Aug. 23, 2019); Order No. 32 (July 30, 2019), not rev’d by Comm’n Notice (Aug. 23,
2019); Order No. 33 (July 30, 2019), not rev’d by Comm’n Notice (Aug. 23, 2019); Order No.
34 (July 30, 2019), not rev’d by Comm’n Notice (Aug. 23, 2019).

In addition, the investigation terminated as to the following six respondents based on a
consent order stipulation and the issuance of a consent order: Vapor Hub International, Inc. of
Simi Valley, California; Limitless MOD, LLC; Asher Dynamics, Inc. of Chino, California; Ply
Rock of Chino, California; Infinite-N Technology Limited of Guangdong Province, China; and
King Distribution LLC of Elmwood Park, New Jersey. See Order No. 9 (Feb. 27, 2019), not
rev’d by Comm’n Notice (Mar. 27, 2019); Order No. 11 (Feb. 28, 2019), not rev’d by Comm’n
Notice (Mar. 26, 2019); Order No. 18 (Mar. 28, 2019), not rev’d by Comm’n Notice (Apr. 11,
2019); Order No. 20 (Apr. 2, 2019), not rev’d by Comm’n Notice (Apr. 15, 2019).

On April 23, 2019, the ALJ found respondent XFire in default pursuant to Commission
Rule 210.16(b), 19 CFR 210.16(b). See Order No. 22 (Apr. 23, 2019), not rev’d by Comm’n
Notice (May 16, 2019). At the time XFire was found in default, it was accused of infringing
claims 1,2,4,5,7,8, 10, 12, 13, 16, 17, 20, and 21 of the *669 patent; claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 9, 10,
11, 13, 14, 19, 20, 21, 24, 28, and 29 of the 139 patent; and claims 1, 2, 3,4, 6,9, 11, 12, 18, 19,
20, 21, 22, 23, and 27 of the 915 patent (collectively, “the Asserted XFire Claims”).

Also, prior to the evidentiary hearing, the ALJ granted JLI’s motion for partial

termination of the investigation with respect to allegations of infringement as to all asserted
claims of the 139 patent and certain asserted claims of the other Asserted Patents. See Order
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No. 36 (Aug. 8, 2019), not rev’d by Comm’n Notice (Sep. 5, 2019). As a result, the following
claims remain at issue in the investigation: claims 1, 2, and 13 of the *669 patent; claims 12, 17,
and 20 of the ’568 patent; claims 1, 2, and 4 of the *130 patent; and claims 1, 6, and 21 of the
’915 patent (collectively, “the Asserted Eonsmoke Claims”).

JLI and the Commission were unable to serve respondent Keep Vapor Electronic Tech.
Co., Ltd. of Shenzhen, China despite multiple attempts at service. The final ID states that JLI
does not request any relief against this respondent. See ID at 2 n.1.

Only five respondents participated in the evidentiary hearing: SS Group Holdings; ZLab
S.A. of Punta del Este — Maldonado, Uruguay; Shenzhen Yibo Technology Co. Ltd. Of
Guangdong Province, China (collectively, “the Ziip Respondents™); Vapor 4 Life Holdings, Inc.
of Northbrook, Illinois (““V4L”); and Eonsmoke.

On August 5, 2019, one day before the prehearing conference, the ALJ issued an ID
(Order No. 35), granting JLI’s motion for summary determination of importation,
infringement, and domestic industry. The ALJ found that JLI was entitled to summary
determination of importation with respect to the Ziip Respondents and their accused products;
Eonsmoke and its accused products; and V4L and certain V4L accused products. See Order
No. 35 at 4-11 (Aug. 5, 2019). Citing to a stipulation between JLI and the Ziip Respondents,
the ALJ stated in his infringement analysis with respect to the Ziip Respondents’ accused
products that “the question of whether Ziip accused products contain or perform each
limitation of asserted claims is moot.” Id. at 11. The ALJ did not specifically state whether
summary determination of infringement as to the Ziip Respondents was denied or granted nor
the reasoning supporting grant or denial of the motion as to this issue. /d.

An evidentiary hearing was held from August 6-7, 2019.

On September 4, 2019 the Commission reviewed Order No. 35 in part. Specifically,
the Commission reviewed the ALJ’s analysis as to infringement and a statement regarding
mootness on page 11 of the ID. The Commission remanded to the ALJ for clarification on
this issue and as to whether the ID grants or denies summary determination that the Ziip
Respondents infringe the Asserted Patents. See Comm’n Notice (Sep. 4, 2019).

In response to the Commission’s September 4, 2019 Notice, the ALJ clarified that Order
No. 35 denied summary determination of infringement as to the Ziip Respondents because that
issue was moot in light of the stipulation between JLI and the Ziip Respondents. See Remand of
Order No. 35 (Oct. 10, 2019).

On November 19, 2019, the ALJ granted motions to terminate the investigation as to the
Ziip Respondents and V4L based on settlement agreements. See Order Nos. 38 and 39 (Nov. 19,
2019), not rev’d by Comm’n Notice (Dec. 16, 2019). Accordingly, only respondent Eonsmoke
remains active in this investigation.
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On December 12, 2019, the ALJ granted JLI’s motion to strike portions of Eonsmoke’s
posthearing brief. See Order No. 40 (Dec. 12, 2019). Specifically, these portions relate to the
issue of invalidity of asserted claim 4 of the 915 patent, which was not addressed by
Respondents’ expert or in their prehearing briefings. /d. at 3-5.

On December 13, 2019, the ALJ issued a combined final ID and recommended
determination (“RD”), finding a violation of section 337 by respondent Eonsmoke. Specifically,
the final ID finds, inter alia, that JLI satisfied the importation requirement as to Eonsmoke’s
accused products; that JLI has shown Eonsmoke’s accused products infringe the Asserted
Eonsmoke Claims; that JLI has satisfied the domestic industry requirement with respect to the
’669, the ’568, the *130, and the *915 patents; and that the Asserted Eonsmoke Claims have not
been shown to be invalid. In addition, in the event the Commission finds a violation of section
337, the RD recommends that the Commission issue an LEO and CDOs directed at each of
respondent Eonsmoke and defaulted respondent XFire, and impose a 100 percent bond during
the period of Presidential review. No public interest submissions were filed in response to the
Federal Register notice seeking such submissions, 85 FR 3720 (Jan. 22, 2020).

No petitions for review were filed, which means each party has abandoned all issues
decided adversely to that party. See 19 CFR 210.43(b)(4).

On February 13, 2020, the Commission determined to sua sponte review the final ID in
part. 85 FR 9803-06 (Feb. 20, 2020). Specifically, the Commission determined to review and,
on review, declined to adopt the discussion of the validity of element [c] of claim 12 of the 669
patent on pages 50 and 55 of the final ID. The Commission also determined to review the
discussion of Warranty and Customer Support and Regulatory Compliance on pages 265-266 of
the final ID and the discussion of the quantitative significance of JLI’s contract manufacturers’
investments in the last paragraph on page 272 of the final ID. The Commission determined not
to review the remainder of the final ID, including the other portions of the ID’s domestic
industry analysis, which were sufficient to support the final ID’s finding that JLI has satisfied the
domestic industry requirement under subparagraphs 337(a)(3)(A) and (B) with respect to the
’669, the ’568, the *130, and the *915 patents. Accordingly, the Commission’s determination
resulted in finding a violation of section 337 by reason of Eonsmoke’s importation of electronic
nicotine delivery systems and components thereof that infringe one or more of the Asserted
Eonsmoke Claims. The Commission also determined that JLI is entitled to relief against
defaulted respondent XFire pursuant to 19 U.S.C. 1337(g)(1). The parties were requested to file
written submissions on remedy, the public interest, and bonding.

On February 27, 2020 JLI and OUII submitted their briefs on remedy, the public interest,
and bonding. JLI and OUII further filed response briefs on March 5, 2020.

On review, the Commission has determined to affirm the discussion of Warranty and
Customer Support and Regulatory Compliance as it concerns the economic prong of the
domestic industry requirement on pages 265-66 of the final ID. The Commission has also
determined to decline to adopt the discussion of the quantitative significance of JLI’s contract
manufacturers’ investments as it concerns the economic prong of the domestic industry
requirement in the last paragraph on page 272 of the final ID.
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The Commission has further determined that the appropriate remedy in this investigation
is: (1) an LEO directed to a) respondent Eonsmoke prohibiting the unlicensed importation of
nicotine vaporizer devices and the associated pods sold for use with the devices, and components
thereof that infringe one or more of the Asserted Eonsmoke Claims and b) respondent XFire
prohibiting the unlicensed importation of nicotine vaporizer devices and the associated pods sold
for use with the devices, and components thereof that infringe one or more of the Asserted XFire
Claims; and (2) CDOs prohibiting respondents Eonsmoke and XFire from further importing,
selling, and distributing infringing products in the United States. The Commission has also
determined that the public interest factors enumerated in paragraphs 337(d)(1), (f)(1), and (g)(1)
(19 U.S.C. 1337(d)(1), (f)(1), and (g)(1)), do not preclude issuance of these remedial orders.
Finally, the Commission has determined that the bond during the period of Presidential review
pursuant to 19 U.S.C. 1337(j) shall be in the amount of 100 percent of the entered value of the
imported articles. The Commission’s order was delivered to the President and to the United
States Trade Representative on the day of its issuance. The investigation is hereby terminated.

While temporary remote operating procedures are in place in response to COVID-19, the
Office of the Secretary is not able to serve parties that have not retained counsel or otherwise
provided a point of contact for electronic service. Accordingly, pursuant to Commission Rules
201.16(a) and 210.7(a)(1) (19 CFR 201.16(a), 210.7(a)(1)), the Commission orders that the
Complainant complete service for any party without a method of electronic service noted on the
attached Certificate of Service and shall file proof of service on the Electronic Document
Information System (EDIS).

The authority for the Commission’s determination is contained in section 337 of the
Tariff Act of 1930, as amended, 19 U.S.C. 1337, and in Part 210 of the Commission’s Rules of
Practice and Procedure, 19 CFR Part 210.

By order of the Commission.

Lisa R. Barton
Secretary to the Commission
Issued: April 20, 2020
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CERTAIN ELECTRONIC NICOTINE DELIVERY SYSTEMS Inv. No. 337-TA-1139
AND COMPONENTS THEREOF

PUBLIC CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I, Lisa R. Barton, hereby certify that the attached NOTICE has been served via EDIS
upon the Commission Investigative Attorney, Paul Gennari, Esq., and the following parties

as indicated, on April 20, 2020.
e

Lisa R. Barton, Secretary

U.S. International Trade Commission
500 E Street, SW, Room 112
Washington, DC 20436

On Behalf of Complainants Juul Labs, Inc.:

Daniel E. Yonan, Esq. [] Via Hand Delivery
STERNE, KESSLER, GOLDSTEIN & FOX, P.L.L.C. [] Via Express Delivery

1100 New York Avenue, N.W. O Via First Class Mail
Washington, DC 20005 Other: Email Notification of
Email: dyonan@sternekessler.com Availability for Download

On Behalf of Respondents Eonsmoke, LLC:

Stephen M. Lobbin, Esq. [J Via Hand Delivery

SML AVVOCATI P.C. [ Via Express Delivery

7538 Draper Avenue [J Via First Class Mail

San Diego, California 92037 Other: Email Notification of
Email: sml@smlavvocati.com Auvailability for Download

Respondent:

XFire, Inc. [ Via Hand Delivery
820 Summer Park Dr., Suite 700 [J Via Express Delivery
Stafford, TX 77477 [J Via First Class Mail
Other: Service to Be
Completed by
Complainants
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UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, DC
In the Matter of
CERTAIN ELECTRONIC NICOTINE Investigation No. 337-TA-1139
DELIVERY SYSTEMS AND
COMPONENTS THEREOF

LIMITED EXCLUSION ORDER

The Commission has determined that there is a violation of section 337 of the Tariff Act
of 1930, as amended (19 U.S.C. § 1337), in the unlawful importation, sale for importation, or the
sale within the United States after importation by Eonsmoke, LLC (“Eonsmoke’) and XFire, Inc.
(“XFire”) (collectively, “Respondents™) of certain nicotine vaporizer devices and the associated
pods sold for use with the devices, and components thereof that infringe one or more claims of
U.S. Patent Nos. 10,070,669 (“the *669 patent’); 10,045,568 (“the *568 patent”); 10,058,130
(“the *130 patent™); 10,104,915 (“the *915 patent™); and 10,076,139 (“the *139 patent”™).

Having reviewed the record of this investigation, including the written submissions of the
parties, the Commission has made its determination on the issues of remedy, the public interest,
and bonding. The Commission has determined that the appropriate form of relief includes a
limited exclusion order prohibiting the unlicensed entry of infringing nicotine vaporizer devices
and the associated pods sold for use with the devices, and components thereof manufactured
abroad by or on behalf of, or imported by or on behalf of, the Respondents or any of their
affiliated companies, parents, subsidiaries, or other related business entities, or their successors

or assigns.

JLI Ex. 2042, Page 10 of 372



The Commission has determined that the public interest factors enumerated in 19 U.S.C.
§§ 1337(d)(1) and (g)(1) do not preclude issuance of the limited exclusion order, and that the
bond during the period of Presidential review shall be in the amount of 100 percent of the
entered value of the infringing articles.

Accordingly, the Commission hereby ORDERS that:

1. Nicotine vaporizer devices and the associated pods sold for use with the devices,
and components thereof that infringe one or more of claims 1, 2, and 13 of the *669 patent;
claims 12, 17 and 20 of the 568 patent; claims 1, 2 and 4 of the *130 patent; and claims 1, 6 and
21 of the ’915 patent that are manufactured abroad by or on behalf of, or imported by or on
behalf of, Eonsmoke or any of its affiliated companies, parents, subsidiaries, or other related
business entities, or their successors or assigns, are excluded from entry for consumption into the
United States, entry for consumption from a foreign trade zone, or withdrawal from a warehouse
for consumption, for the remaining term of the patent, except under license of the patent owner
or as provided by law.

2. Nicotine vaporizer devices and the associated pods sold for use with the devices,
and components thereof that infringe one or more of infringing claims 1, 2, 4, 5, 7, 8, 10, 12, 13,
16, 17, 20, and 21 of the *669 patent; claims 1, 2, 3, 4,9, 10, 11, 13, 14, 19, 20, 21, 24, 28, and
29 of the *139 patent; and claims 1, 2, 3,4, 6,9, 11, 12, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22, 23, and 27 of the *915
patent that are manufactured abroad by or on behalf of, or imported by or on behalf of, XFire or
any of its affiliated companies, parents, subsidiaries, or other related business entities, or their
successors or assigns, are excluded from entry for consumption into the United States, entry for
consumption from a foreign trade zone, or withdrawal from a warehouse for consumption, for

the remaining term of the patent, except under license of the patent owner or as provided by law.
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3. Notwithstanding paragraphs 1 and 2 of this Order, the aforesaid nicotine vaporizer
devices and the associated pods sold for use with the devices, and components thereof (“covered
articles”) are entitled to entry into the United States for consumption, entry for consumption
from a foreign-trade zone, or withdrawal from a warehouse for consumption under bond in the
amount of one hundred (100) percent of the entered value of the products, pursuant to subsection
(j) of Section 337 (19 U.S.C. § 1337(j)) and the Presidential Memorandum for the United States
Trade Representative of July 21, 2005 (70 Fed. Reg. 43,251), from the day after this Order is
received by the United States Trade Representative until such time as the United States Trade
Representative notifies the Commission that this Order is approved, disapproved, or no action is
taken but, in any event, not later than sixty (60) days after the date of receipt of this Order. All
entries of covered articles made pursuant to this paragraph are to be reported to U.S. Customs
and Border Protection (“CBP”), in advance of the date of the entry, pursuant to procedures CBP
establishes.

4. At the discretion of CBP and pursuant to procedures that it establishes, persons
seeking to import nicotine vaporizer devices and the associated pods sold for use with the
devices, and components thereof that are potentially subject to this Order may be required to
certify that they are familiar with the terms of this Order, that they have made appropriate
inquiry, and thereupon state that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, the products being
imported are not excluded from entry under paragraphs 1 and 2 of this Order. At its discretion,
CBP may require persons who have provided the certification described in this paragraph to

furnish such records or analyses as are necessary to substantiate the certification.
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5. In accordance with 19 U.S.C. § 1337(1), the provisions of this Order shall not
apply to covered articles imported by and for the use of the United States, or imported for, and to
be used for, the United States with the authorization or consent of the Government.

6. The Commission may modify this Order in accordance with the procedures
described in section 210.76 of the Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure (19 C.F.R.

§ 210.76).

7. The Secretary shall serve copies of this Order upon each party of record in this
investigation that has retained counsel or otherwise provided a point of contact for electronic
service and upon CBP. While temporary remote operating procedures are in place in response to
COVID-19, the Office of the Secretary is not able to serve parties that have not retained counsel
or otherwise provided a point of contact for electronic service. Accordingly, pursuant to
Commission Rules 201.16(a) and 210.7(a)(1) (19 CFR 201.16(a), 210.7(a)(1)), the Commission
orders that the Complainant complete service of this Order for any party without a method of
electronic service noted on the attached Certificate of Service and shall file proof of service on
the Electronic Document Information System (EDIS).

8. Notice of this Order shall be published in the Federal Register.

By order of the Commission.

Lisa R. Barton
Secretary to the Commission

Issued: April 20, 2020
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CERTAIN ELECTRONIC NICOTINE DELIVERY SYSTEMS Inv. No. 337-TA-1139
AND COMPONENTS THEREOF

PUBLIC CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I, Lisa R. Barton, hereby certify that the attached ORDER has been served via EDIS
upon the Commission Investigative Attorney, Paul Gennari, Esq., and the following parties as

indicated, on April 20, 2020.
e

Lisa R. Barton, Secretary

U.S. International Trade Commission
500 E Street, SW, Room 112
Washington, DC 20436

On Behalf of Complainants Juul Labs, Inc.:

Daniel E. Yonan, Esq. [] Via Hand Delivery
STERNE, KESSLER, GOLDSTEIN & FOX, P.L.L.C. [] Via Express Delivery

1100 New York Avenue, N.W. O Via First Class Mail
Washington, DC 20005 Other: Email Notification of
Email: dyonan@sternekessler.com Availability for Download

On Behalf of Respondents Eonsmoke, LLC:

Stephen M. Lobbin, Esq. [J Via Hand Delivery

SML AVVOCATI P.C. [ Via Express Delivery

7538 Draper Avenue [J Via First Class Mail

San Diego, California 92037 Other: Email Notification of
Email: sml@smlavvocati.com Auvailability for Download

Respondent:

XFire, Inc. [ Via Hand Delivery
820 Summer Park Dr., Suite 700 [J Via Express Delivery
Stafford, TX 77477 [J Via First Class Mail
Other: Service to Be
Completed by
Complainants
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UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, DC

In the Matter of

CERTAIN ELECTRONIC NICOTINE Investigation No. 337-TA-1139
DELIVERY SYSTEMS AND
COMPONENTS THEREOF

CEASE AND DESIST ORDER

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT RESPONDENT XFire, Inc., 820 Summer Park
Dr., Suite 700, Stafford, TX 77477 (“Respondent”), cease and desist from conducting any of the
following activities in the United States: importing, selling, marketing, advertising, distributing,
transferring (except for exportation), and soliciting United States agents or distributors for, or
aiding and abetting other entities in the importation, sale for importation, sale after importation,
transfer (except for exportation), or distribution of nicotine vaporizer devices and the associated
pods sold for use with the devices, and components thereof that infringe one or more of claims 1,
2,4,5,7,8,10, 12,13, 16, 17, 20, and 21 of U.S. Patent No. 10,070,669 (“the *669 patent”);
claims 1, 2, 3,4, 9, 10, 11, 13, 14, 19, 20, 21, 24, 28, and 29 of U.S. Patent No. 10,076,139 (“the
’139 patent”); and claims 1, 2, 3,4, 6,9, 11, 12, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22, 23, and 27 of U.S. Patent No.
10,104,915 (“the ’915 patent”) (collectively, “the Asserted Patents”) in violation of section 337

of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended (19 U.S.C. § 1337).
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I.
Definitions

As used in this order:

(A)

B)

©

(D)

(E)

(F)

G)

“Commission” shall mean the United States International Trade Commission.
“Complainant” shall mean Juul Labs, Inc., 560 20th Street, San Francisco, CA
94107.

“Respondent” shall mean XFire, Inc., 820 Summer Park Dr., Suite 700, Stafford,
TX 77477.

“Person” shall mean an individual, or any non-governmental partnership, firm,
association, corporation, or other legal or business entity other than Respondent
or its majority-owned or controlled subsidiaries, successors, or assigns.

“United States” shall mean the fifty States, the District of Columbia, and Puerto
Rico.

The terms “import” and “importation” refer to importation for entry for
consumption under the Customs laws of the United States.

The term “covered products” shall mean nicotine vaporizer devices and the
associated pods sold for use with the devices, and components thereof that
infringe one or more of claims 1, 2, 4, 5, 7, 8, 10, 12, 13, 16, 17, 20, and 21 of
the *669 patent; claims 1, 2, 3,4, 9, 10, 11, 13, 14, 19, 20, 21, 24, 28, and 29 of
the *139 patent; and claims 1, 2, 3,4, 6,9, 11, 12, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22, 23, and 27
of the "915 patent. Covered products shall not include articles for which a

provision of law or license avoids liability for infringement.
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II.
Applicability

The provisions of this Cease and Desist Order shall apply to Respondent and to any of its
principals, stockholders, officers, directors, employees, agents, distributors, controlled (whether
by stock ownership or otherwise) and majority-owned business entities, successors, and assigns,
and to each of them, insofar as they are engaging in conduct prohibited by section IIL, infra, for,
with, or otherwise on behalf of, Respondent.

I11.
Conduct Prohibited

The following conduct of Respondent in the United States is prohibited by this Order.
For the remaining term of the Asserted Patents, Respondent shall not:

(A)  import or sell for importation into the United States covered products;

(B)  market, distribute, sell, or otherwise transfer (except for exportation)
imported covered products;

(C)  advertise imported covered products;

(D)  solicit U.S. agents or distributors for imported covered products; or

(E) aid or abet other entities in the importation, sale for importation, sale
after importation, transfer, or distribution of covered products.

IV.
Conduct Permitted

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Order, specific conduct otherwise prohibited
by the terms of this Order shall be permitted if:
(A)  in a written instrument, the owner of the Asserted Patents licenses or

authorizes such specific conduct; or
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(B)  such specific conduct is related to the importation or sale of covered
products by or for the United States.

V.
Reporting

For purposes of this requirement, the reporting periods shall commence on January 1 of
each year and shall end on the subsequent December 31. The first report required under this
section shall cover the period from the date of issuance of this order through December 31, 2020.
This reporting requirement shall continue in force until such time as Respondent has truthfully
reported, in two consecutive timely filed reports, that it has no inventory of covered products in
the United States.

Within thirty (30) days of the last day of the reporting period, Respondent shall report to
the Commission: (a) the quantity in units and the value in dollars of covered products that it has
(1) imported and/or (ii) sold in the United States after importation during the reporting period,
and (b) the quantity in units and value in dollars of reported covered products that remain in
inventory in the United States at the end of the reporting period.

When filing written submissions, Respondent must file the original document
electronically on or before the deadlines stated above and submit eight (8) true paper copies to
the Office of the Secretary by noon the next day pursuant to section 210.4(f) of the
Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure (19 C.F.R. § 210.4(f)). Submissions should refer
to the investigation number (“Inv. No. 337-TA-1139”) in a prominent place on the cover pages
and/or the first page. (See Handbook for Electronic Filing Procedures,
https://www.usitc.gov/documents/handbook on_filing procedures.pdf). Persons with questions
regarding filing should contact the Secretary (202-205-2000). If Respondent desires to submit a

document to the Commission in confidence, it must file the original and a public version of the
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original with the Office of the Secretary and must serve a copy of the confidential version on
Complainant’s counsel. !

Persons filing written submissions must file the original document electronically on or
before the deadlines stated above. The Commission’s paper filing requirements in 19 C.F.R.
210.4(f) are currently waived, pending resolution of the COVID-19 crisis. 85 Fed. Reg. 15798
(March 19, 2020).

Any failure to make the required report or the filing of any false or inaccurate report shall
constitute a violation of this Order, and the submission of a false or inaccurate report may be
referred to the U.S. Department of Justice as a possible criminal violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1001.

VI.
Record-Keeping and Inspection

(A)  For the purpose of securing compliance with this Order, Respondent
shall retain any and all records relating to the sale, marketing, or
distribution in the United States of covered products, made and received
in the usual and ordinary course of business, whether in detail or in
summary form, for a period of three (3) years from the close of the fiscal
year to which they pertain.

(B)  For the purposes of determining or securing compliance with this Order
and for no other purpose, subject to any privilege recognized by the
federal courts of the United States, and upon reasonable written notice by

the Commission or its staff, duly authorized representatives of the

! Complainant must file a letter with the Secretary identifying the attorney to receive reports and
bond information associated with this Order. The designated attorney must be on the protective
order entered in the investigation.
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Commission shall be permitted access and the right to inspect and copy,
in Respondent’s principal offices during office hours, and in the presence
of counsel or other representatives if Respondent so chooses, all books,
ledgers, accounts, correspondence, memoranda, and other records and
documents, in detail and in summary form, that must be retained under
subparagraph VI(A) of this Order.

VII.
Service of Cease and Desist Order

The Secretary shall serve copies of this Order upon each party of record in this

investigation that has retained counsel or otherwise provided a point of contact for electronic

service and upon CBP. While temporary remote operating procedures are in place in response to

COVID-19, the Office of the Secretary is not able to serve parties that have not retained counsel

or otherwise provided a point of contact for electronic service. Accordingly, pursuant to

Commission Rules 201.16(a) and 210.7(a)(1) (19 CFR 201.16(a), 210.7(a)(1)), the Commission

orders that the Complainant complete service of this Order for any party without a method of

electronic service noted on the attached Certificate of Service and shall file proof of service on

the Electronic Document Information System (EDIS).

Respondent is ordered and directed to:

(A)

(B)

Serve, within fifteen (15) days after the effective date of this Order, a
copy of this Order upon each of its respective officers, directors,
managing agents, agents, and employees who have any responsibility for
the importation, marketing, distribution, or sale of imported covered
products in the United States;

Serve, within fifteen (15) days after the succession of any persons
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referred to in subparagraph VII(A) of this order, a copy of the Order
upon each successor; and
(C)  Maintain such records as will show the name, title, and address of each
person upon whom the Order has been served, as described in
subparagraphs VII(A) and VII(B) of this order, together with the date on
which service was made.
The obligations set forth in subparagraphs VII(B) and VII(C) shall remain in effect until
the expiration of the Asserted Patents.

VIII.
Confidentiality

Any request for confidential treatment of information obtained by the Commission
pursuant to Section V or VI of this order should be made in accordance with section 201.6 of the
Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure (19 C.F.R. § 201.6). For all reports for which
confidential treatment is sought, Respondent must provide a public version of such report with

confidential information redacted.

IX.
Enforcement

Violation of this order may result in any of the actions specified in section 210.75 of the
Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure (19 C.F.R. § 210.75), including an action for
civil penalties under section 337(f) of the Tariff Act of 1930 (19 U.S.C. § 1337(%)), as well as
any other action that the Commission deems appropriate. In determining whether Respondent is
in violation of this order, the Commission may infer facts adverse to Respondent if it fails to

provide adequate or timely information.
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X.
Modification

The Commission may amend this order on its own motion or in accordance with the
procedure described in section 210.76 of the Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure (19
C.F.R. § 210.76).

XI.
Bonding

The conduct prohibited by section III of this order may be continued during the sixty (60)
day period in which this Order is under review by the United States Trade Representative, as
delegated by the President (70 Fed. Reg. 43,251 (Jul. 21, 2005)), subject to Respondent’s posting
of a bond in the amount of one hundred (100) percent of the entered value of the covered
products. This bond provision does not apply to conduct that is otherwise permitted by section
IV of this Order. Covered products imported on or after the date of issuance of this Order are
subject to the entry bond as set forth in the exclusion order issued by the Commission and are not
subject to this bond provision.

The bond is to be posted in accordance with the procedures established by the
Commission for the posting of bonds by complainants in connection with the issuance of
temporary exclusion orders. (See 19 C.F.R. § 210.68.) The bond and any accompanying
documentation are to be provided to and approved by the Commission prior to the
commencement of conduct that is otherwise prohibited by section III of this Order. Upon the
Secretary’s acceptance of the bond, (a) the Secretary will serve an acceptance letter on all
parties, and (b) Respondent must serve a copy of the bond and accompanying documentation on

Complainant’s counsel.?

2 See note 1 above.
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The bond is to be forfeited in the event that the United States Trade Representative
approves this Order (or does not disapprove it within the review period), unless (i) the U.S. Court
of Appeals for the Federal Circuit, in a final judgment, reverses any Commission final
determination and order as to Respondent on appeal, or (ii) Respondent exports or destroys the
products subject to this bond and provides certification to that effect that is satisfactory to the
Commission.

The bond is to be released in the event the United States Trade Representative
disapproves this Order and no subsequent order is issued by the Commission and approved (or
not disapproved, or no action is taken) by the United States Trade Representative, upon service
on Respondent of an order issued by the Commission based upon application therefore made by
Respondent to the Commission.

By order of the Commission.

Lisa R. Barton
Secretary to the Commission
Issued: April 20, 2020
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CERTAIN ELECTRONIC NICOTINE DELIVERY SYSTEMS Inv. No. 337-TA-1139
AND COMPONENTS THEREOF

PUBLIC CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I, Lisa R. Barton, hereby certify that the attached ORDER has been served via EDIS
upon the Commission Investigative Attorney, Paul Gennari, Esq., and the following parties as

indicated, on April 20, 2020.
e

Lisa R. Barton, Secretary

U.S. International Trade Commission
500 E Street, SW, Room 112
Washington, DC 20436

On Behalf of Complainants Juul Labs, Inc.:

Daniel E. Yonan, Esq. [] Via Hand Delivery
STERNE, KESSLER, GOLDSTEIN & FOX, P.L.L.C. [] Via Express Delivery

1100 New York Avenue, N.W. O Via First Class Mail
Washington, DC 20005 Other: Email Notification of
Email: dyonan@sternekessler.com Availability for Download

On Behalf of Respondents Eonsmoke, LLC:

Stephen M. Lobbin, Esq. [J Via Hand Delivery

SML AVVOCATI P.C. [ Via Express Delivery

7538 Draper Avenue [J Via First Class Mail

San Diego, California 92037 Other: Email Notification of
Email: sml@smlavvocati.com Auvailability for Download

Respondent:

XFire, Inc. [ Via Hand Delivery
820 Summer Park Dr., Suite 700 [J Via Express Delivery
Stafford, TX 77477 [J Via First Class Mail
Other: Service to Be
Completed by
Complainants
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UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, DC

In the Matter of

CERTAIN ELECTRONIC NICOTINE Investigation No. 337-TA-1139
DELIVERY SYSTEMS AND
COMPONENTS THEREOF

CEASE AND DESIST ORDER

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT RESPONDENT Eonsmoke, LLC, 1500 Main
Ave., 2nd Floor, Clifton, NJ 07011 (“Respondent”), cease and desist from conducting any of the
following activities in the United States: importing, selling, marketing, advertising, distributing,
transferring (except for exportation), and soliciting United States agents or distributors for, or
aiding and abetting other entities in the importation, sale for importation, sale after importation,
transfer (except for exportation), or distribution of nicotine vaporizer devices and the associated
pods sold for use with the devices, and components thereof that infringe one or more of claims 1,
2, and 13 of U.S. Patent No. 10,070,669 (“the 669 patent”); claims 12, 17 and 20 of U.S. Patent
No. 10,045,568 (“the *568 patent”); claims 1, 2 and 4 of U.S. Patent No. 10,058,130 (“the *130
patent”); and claims 1, 6 and 21 of U.S. Patent No. 10,104,915 (“the *915 patent”) (collectively,
“the Asserted Patents™) in violation of section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended (19

U.S.C. § 1337).
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I.
Definitions

As used in this order:

(A)

B)

©

(D)

(E)

(F)

G)

“Commission” shall mean the United States International Trade Commission.
“Complainant” shall mean Juul Labs, Inc., 560 20th Street, San Francisco, CA
94107.

“Respondent” shall mean Eonsmoke, LLC, 1500 Main Ave., 2nd Floor, Clifton,
NJ 07011.

“Person” shall mean an individual, or any non-governmental partnership, firm,
association, corporation, or other legal or business entity other than Respondent
or its majority-owned or controlled subsidiaries, successors, or assigns.

“United States” shall mean the fifty States, the District of Columbia, and Puerto
Rico.

The terms “import” and “importation” refer to importation for entry for
consumption under the Customs laws of the United States.

The term “covered products” shall mean nicotine vaporizer devices and the
associated pods sold for use with the devices, and components thereof that
infringe one or more of claims 1, 2, and 13 of the 669 patent; claims 12, 17 and
20 of the ’568 patent; claims 1, 2 and 4 of the *130 patent; and claims 1, 6 and 21
of the "915 patent. Covered products shall not include articles for which a

provision of law or license avoids liability for infringement.
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II.
Applicability

The provisions of this Cease and Desist Order shall apply to Respondent and to any of its
principals, stockholders, officers, directors, employees, agents, distributors, controlled (whether
by stock ownership or otherwise) and majority-owned business entities, successors, and assigns,
and to each of them, insofar as they are engaging in conduct prohibited by section III, infra, for,
with, or otherwise on behalf of, Respondent.

I11.
Conduct Prohibited

The following conduct of Respondent in the United States is prohibited by this Order.
For the remaining term of the Asserted Patents, Respondent shall not:

(A)  import or sell for importation into the United States covered products;

(B)  market, distribute, sell, or otherwise transfer (except for exportation)
imported covered products;

(C)  advertise imported covered products;

(D)  solicit U.S. agents or distributors for imported covered products; or

(E) aid or abet other entities in the importation, sale for importation, sale
after importation, transfer, or distribution of covered products.

IV.
Conduct Permitted

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Order, specific conduct otherwise prohibited
by the terms of this Order shall be permitted if:
(A)  in a written instrument, the owner of the Asserted Patents licenses or

authorizes such specific conduct; or
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(B)  such specific conduct is related to the importation or sale of covered
products by or for the United States.

V.
Reporting

For purposes of this requirement, the reporting periods shall commence on January 1 of
each year and shall end on the subsequent December 31. The first report required under this
section shall cover the period from the date of issuance of this order through December 31, 2020.
This reporting requirement shall continue in force until such time as Respondent has truthfully
reported, in two consecutive timely filed reports, that it has no inventory of covered products in
the United States.

Within thirty (30) days of the last day of the reporting period, Respondent shall report to
the Commission: (a) the quantity in units and the value in dollars of covered products that it has
(1) imported and/or (ii) sold in the United States after importation during the reporting period,
and (b) the quantity in units and value in dollars of reported covered products that remain in
inventory in the United States at the end of the reporting period.

When filing written submissions, Respondent must file the original document
electronically on or before the deadlines stated above and submit eight (8) true paper copies to
the Office of the Secretary by noon the next day pursuant to section 210.4(f) of the
Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure (19 C.F.R. § 210.4(f)). Submissions should refer
to the investigation number (“Inv. No. 337-TA-1139”) in a prominent place on the cover pages
and/or the first page. (See Handbook for Electronic Filing Procedures,
https://www.usitc.gov/documents/handbook on_filing procedures.pdf). Persons with questions
regarding filing should contact the Secretary (202-205-2000). If Respondent desires to submit a

document to the Commission in confidence, it must file the original and a public version of the
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original with the Office of the Secretary and must serve a copy of the confidential version on
Complainant’s counsel. !

Persons filing written submissions must file the original document electronically on or
before the deadlines stated above. The Commission’s paper filing requirements in 19 C.F.R.
210.4(f) are currently waived, pending resolution of the COVID-19 crisis. 85 Fed. Reg. 15798
(March 19, 2020).

Any failure to make the required report or the filing of any false or inaccurate report shall
constitute a violation of this Order, and the submission of a false or inaccurate report may be
referred to the U.S. Department of Justice as a possible criminal violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1001.

VI.
Record-Keeping and Inspection

(A)  For the purpose of securing compliance with this Order, Respondent
shall retain any and all records relating to the sale, marketing, or
distribution in the United States of covered products, made and received
in the usual and ordinary course of business, whether in detail or in
summary form, for a period of three (3) years from the close of the fiscal
year to which they pertain.

(B)  For the purposes of determining or securing compliance with this Order
and for no other purpose, subject to any privilege recognized by the
federal courts of the United States, and upon reasonable written notice by

the Commission or its staff, duly authorized representatives of the

! Complainant must file a letter with the Secretary identifying the attorney to receive reports and
bond information associated with this Order. The designated attorney must be on the protective
order entered in the investigation.
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Commission shall be permitted access and the right to inspect and copy,
in Respondent’s principal offices during office hours, and in the presence
of counsel or other representatives if Respondent so chooses, all books,
ledgers, accounts, correspondence, memoranda, and other records and
documents, in detail and in summary form, that must be retained under
subparagraph VI(A) of this Order.

VII.
Service of Cease and Desist Order

The Secretary shall serve copies of this Order upon each party of record in this

investigation that has retained counsel or otherwise provided a point of contact for electronic

service and upon CBP. While temporary remote operating procedures are in place in response to

COVID-19, the Office of the Secretary is not able to serve parties that have not retained counsel

or otherwise provided a point of contact for electronic service. Accordingly, pursuant to

Commission Rules 201.16(a) and 210.7(a)(1) (19 CFR 201.16(a), 210.7(a)(1)), the Commission

orders that the Complainant complete service of this Order for any party without a method of

electronic service noted on the attached Certificate of Service and shall file proof of service on

the Electronic Document Information System (EDIS).

Respondent is ordered and directed to:

(A)

(B)

Serve, within fifteen (15) days after the effective date of this Order, a
copy of this Order upon each of its respective officers, directors,
managing agents, agents, and employees who have any responsibility for
the importation, marketing, distribution, or sale of imported covered
products in the United States;

Serve, within fifteen (15) days after the succession of any persons
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referred to in subparagraph VII(A) of this order, a copy of the Order
upon each successor; and
(C)  Maintain such records as will show the name, title, and address of each
person upon whom the Order has been served, as described in
subparagraphs VII(A) and VII(B) of this order, together with the date on
which service was made.
The obligations set forth in subparagraphs VII(B) and VII(C) shall remain in effect until
the expiration of the Asserted Patents.

VIII.
Confidentiality

Any request for confidential treatment of information obtained by the Commission
pursuant to Section V or VI of this order should be made in accordance with section 201.6 of the
Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure (19 C.F.R. § 201.6). For all reports for which
confidential treatment is sought, Respondent must provide a public version of such report with

confidential information redacted.

IX.
Enforcement

Violation of this order may result in any of the actions specified in section 210.75 of the
Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure (19 C.F.R. § 210.75), including an action for
civil penalties under section 337(f) of the Tariff Act of 1930 (19 U.S.C. § 1337(%)), as well as
any other action that the Commission deems appropriate. In determining whether Respondent is
in violation of this order, the Commission may infer facts adverse to Respondent if it fails to

provide adequate or timely information.
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X.
Modification

The Commission may amend this order on its own motion or in accordance with the
procedure described in section 210.76 of the Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure (19
C.F.R. § 210.76).

XI.
Bonding

The conduct prohibited by section III of this order may be continued during the sixty (60)
day period in which this Order is under review by the United States Trade Representative, as
delegated by the President (70 Fed. Reg. 43,251 (Jul. 21, 2005)), subject to Respondent’s posting
of a bond in the amount of one hundred (100) percent of the entered value of the covered
products. This bond provision does not apply to conduct that is otherwise permitted by section
IV of this Order. Covered products imported on or after the date of issuance of this Order are
subject to the entry bond as set forth in the exclusion order issued by the Commission and are not
subject to this bond provision.

The bond is to be posted in accordance with the procedures established by the
Commission for the posting of bonds by complainants in connection with the issuance of
temporary exclusion orders. (See 19 C.F.R. § 210.68.) The bond and any accompanying
documentation are to be provided to and approved by the Commission prior to the
commencement of conduct that is otherwise prohibited by section III of this Order. Upon the
Secretary’s acceptance of the bond, (a) the Secretary will serve an acceptance letter on all
parties, and (b) Respondent must serve a copy of the bond and accompanying documentation on

Complainant’s counsel.?

2 See note 1 above.
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The bond is to be forfeited in the event that the United States Trade Representative
approves this Order (or does not disapprove it within the review period), unless (i) the U.S. Court
of Appeals for the Federal Circuit, in a final judgment, reverses any Commission final
determination and order as to Respondent on appeal, or (ii) Respondent exports or destroys the
products subject to this bond and provides certification to that effect that is satisfactory to the
Commission.

The bond is to be released in the event the United States Trade Representative
disapproves this Order and no subsequent order is issued by the Commission and approved (or
not disapproved, or no action is taken) by the United States Trade Representative, upon service
on Respondent of an order issued by the Commission based upon application therefore made by
Respondent to the Commission.

By order of the Commission.

a3
Lisa R. Barton

Secretary to the Commission
Issued: April 20, 2020
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CERTAIN ELECTRONIC NICOTINE DELIVERY SYSTEMS Inv. No. 337-TA-1139
AND COMPONENTS THEREOF

PUBLIC CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I, Lisa R. Barton, hereby certify that the attached ORDER has been served via EDIS
upon the Commission Investigative Attorney, Paul Gennari, Esq., and the following parties as

indicated, on April 20, 2020.
e

Lisa R. Barton, Secretary

U.S. International Trade Commission
500 E Street, SW, Room 112
Washington, DC 20436

On Behalf of Complainants Juul Labs, Inc.:

Daniel E. Yonan, Esq. [] Via Hand Delivery
STERNE, KESSLER, GOLDSTEIN & FOX, P.L.L.C. [] Via Express Delivery

1100 New York Avenue, N.W. O Via First Class Mail
Washington, DC 20005 Other: Email Notification of
Email: dyonan@sternekessler.com Availability for Download

On Behalf of Respondents Eonsmoke, LLC:

Stephen M. Lobbin, Esq. [J Via Hand Delivery

SML AVVOCATI P.C. [ Via Express Delivery

7538 Draper Avenue [J Via First Class Mail

San Diego, California 92037 Other: Email Notification of
Email: sml@smlavvocati.com Auvailability for Download

Respondent:

XFire, Inc. [ Via Hand Delivery
820 Summer Park Dr., Suite 700 [J Via Express Delivery
Stafford, TX 77477 [J Via First Class Mail
Other: Service to Be
Completed by
Complainants
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UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C.

In the Matter of

CERTAIN ELECTRONIC NICOTINE Investigation No. 337-TA-1139
DELIVERY SYSTEMS AND
COMPONENTS THEREOF

COMMISSION OPINION

The Commission has determined that there has been a violation of section 337 of the
Tariff Act of 1930, as amended, 19 U.S.C. § 1337, with respect to U.S. Patent Nos. 10,070,669
(“the *669 patent™); 10,045,568 (“the 568 patent’); 10,058,130 (“the 130 patent”); and
10,104,915 (“the ’915 patent”) on review of the presiding administrative law judge’s (“ALJ”)
final initial determination (“FID”’). This opinion sets forth the Commission’s reasoning in
support of that determination. In addition, the Commission adopts the findings in the FID that
are not inconsistent with this opinion. The Commission has also determined that the appropriate
form of relief is issuance of a limited exclusion order and cease and desist orders.

I. BACKGROUND

On December 13, 2018, the Commission instituted this investigation under section 337
based on a complaint filed on behalf of Juul Labs, Inc. (“JLI”) of San Francisco, California. 83
Fed. Reg. 64156-57 (Dec. 13, 2018). The complaint, as amended and supplemented, alleged
violations of section 337 based upon the importation into the United States, the sale for
importation, and the sale within the United States after importation of certain electronic nicotine
delivery systems (“ENDS”) and components thereof by reason of infringement of certain claims
of the 669 patent, the 568 patent, the *130 patent, the 915 patent (collectively “the Asserted

Patents™), and U.S. Patent No. 10,076,139 (“the *139 patent”). Id. The Commission’s notice of
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investigation named twenty-one respondents, including Eonsmoke, LLC (“Eonsmoke”) of
Clifton, New Jersey and XFire, Inc. (“XFire”) of Stafford, Texas. Id. at 64157. The Office of
Unfair Import Investigations (“OUII”’) was also a party to the investigation. Id.

JLI and the Commission were unable to serve respondent Keep Vapor Electronic Tech.
Co., Ltd. of Shenzhen, China despite multiple attempts at service. The FID stated that JLI does
not request any relief against this respondent. See FID at 2 n.1.

On February 25, 2019, the ALJ granted JLI’s motion to amend the complaint and notice
of investigation to change the name of respondent Bo Vaping of Garden City, New York to
ECVD/MMS Wholesale LLC of Garden City, New York and the name of respondent MMS
Distribution LLC of Rock Hill, New York to MMS/ECVD LLC of Garden City, New York.
See Order No. 8 (Feb. 25, 2019), not rev’d by Comm’n Notice (Mar. 25, 2019).

On February 28, 2019, the ALJ granted a motion to amend the complaint and notice of
investigation to change the name of respondent Limitless Mod Co. of Simi Valley, California to
Limitless MOD, LLC of Simi Valley, California. See Order No. 10 (Feb. 28, 2019), not rev’d
by Comm’n Notice (Mar. 27, 2019).

On May 21, 2019, the ALJ granted a motion to amend the complaint and notice of
investigation to change the name of respondent Ziip Lab Co., Ltd. of Guangdong Province,
China to SS Group Holdings of Guangdong Province, China. See Order No. 26 (May 21, 2019),
not rev’d by Comm’n Notice (June 14, 2019).

Before the evidentiary hearing, JLI settled with the following eight respondents: J] Well
France S.A.S. of Paris, France; ECVD/MMS Wholesale LLC; MMS/ECVD LLC; The Electric
Tobacconist, LLC of Boulder, Colorado; ALD Group Limited of Guangdong Province, China;

Flair Vapor LLC of South Plainfield, New Jersey; Shenzhen Joecig Technology Co., Ltd. of
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Guangdong Province, China; and Myle Vape Inc. of Jamaica, New York. See Order No. 13
(Mar. 12, 2019), not rev’d by Comm’n Notice (Apr. 5, 2019); Order No. 16 (Mar. 21, 2019), not
rev’d by Comm’n Notice (Apr. 4, 2019); Order No. 31 (July 30, 2019), not rev’d by Comm’n
Notice (Aug. 23, 2019); Order No. 32 (July 30, 2019), not rev’d by Comm’n Notice (Aug. 23,
2019); Order No. 33 (July 30, 2019), not rev’d by Comm’n Notice (Aug. 23, 2019); Order No.
34 (July 30, 2019), not rev’d by Comm’n Notice (Aug. 23, 2019).

In addition, the Commission terminated the investigation as to the following six
respondents based on a consent order stipulation and the issuance of a consent order: Vapor
Hub International, Inc. of Simi Valley, California; Limitless MOD, LLC; Asher Dynamics, Inc.
of Chino, California; Ply Rock of Chino, California; Infinite-N Technology Limited of
Guangdong Province, China; and King Distribution LLC of Elmwood Park, New Jersey. See
Order No. 9 (Feb. 27, 2019), not rev’d by Comm’n Notice (Mar. 27, 2019); Order No. 11 (Feb.
28, 2019), not rev’d by Comm’n Notice (Mar. 26, 2019); Order No. 18 (Mar. 28, 2019), not
rev’d by Comm’n Notice (Apr. 11, 2019); Order No. 20 (Apr. 2, 2019), not rev’d by Comm’n
Notice (Apr. 15, 2019).

On April 23, 2019, the ALJ found respondent XFire in default pursuant to Commission
Rule 210.16(b), 19 C.F.R. § 210.16(b). See Order No. 22 (Apr. 23, 2019), not rev’d by
Comm’n Notice (May 16, 2019). At the time XFire was found in default, it was accused of
infringing claims 1, 2,4, 5, 7, 8, 10, 12, 13, 16, 17, 20, and 21 of the 669 patent; claims 1, 2, 3,
4,9,10, 11,13, 14, 19, 20, 21, 24, 28, and 29 of the *139 patent; and claims 1, 2, 3,4, 6,9, 11,
12, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22, 23, and 27 of the *915 patent (collectively, “the Asserted XFire Claims”).

Also, prior to the evidentiary hearing, the ALJ granted JLI’s motion for partial

termination of the investigation with respect to allegations of infringement as to all asserted
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claims of the 139 patent and certain asserted claims of the other Asserted Patents. See Order
No. 36 (Aug. 8, 2019), not rev’d by Comm’n Notice (Sep. 5, 2019). As a result, only the
following claims remain at issue in the investigation: claims 1, 2, and 13 of the *669 patent;
claims 12, 17, and 20 of the *568 patent; claims 1, 2, and 4 of the 130 patent; and claims 1, 6,
and 21 of the 915 patent.

Only five respondents participated in the evidentiary hearing: SS Group Holdings; ZLab
S.A. of Punta del Este — Maldonado, Uruguay; Shenzhen Yibo Technology Co. Ltd. Of
Guangdong Province, China (collectively, “the Ziip Respondents”); Vapor 4 Life Holdings, Inc.
of Northbrook, Illinois (“V4L”); and Eonsmoke.

On August 5, 2019, one day before the prehearing conference, the ALJ issued an initial
determination (“ID”) (Order No. 35), granting JLI’s motion for summary determination of
importation, infringement, and domestic industry. The ALJ found that JLI was entitled to
summary determination of importation with respect to the Ziip Respondents and their accused
products; Eonsmoke and its accused products'; and V4L and certain V4L accused products. See
Order No. 35 at4-11 (Aug. 5, 2019). Citing to a stipulation between JLI and the Ziip
Respondents, the ALJ found regarding infringement that “the question of whether Ziip accused
products contain or perform each limitation of asserted claims is moot.” /d. at 11. The ALJ did
not specifically state whether summary determination of infringement as to the Ziip
Respondents was denied or granted nor the reasoning supporting grant or denial of the motion
as to this issue. /d.

An evidentiary hearing was held from August 6-7, 2019.

"Eonsmoke’s accused products include “the Eonsmoke device, the Eonsmoke v2.0
device, Eonsmoke (Eon) pod, and the 4X pod.” See FID at 9.
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On September 4, 2019 the Commission reviewed Order No. 35 in part. See Comm’n
Notice (Sept. 4, 2019). Specifically, the Commission reviewed the ALJ’s analysis as to
infringement and the statement regarding mootness on page 11 of the ID. /d. The Commission
remanded to the ALJ for clarification on this issue and as to whether the ID grants or denies
summary determination that the Ziip Respondents infringe the claims of the Asserted Patents.
1d.

In response to the Commission’s September 4, 2019 Notice, the ALJ clarified that Order
No. 35 denied summary determination of infringement as to the Ziip Respondents because that
issue was moot in light of the stipulation between JLI and the Ziip Respondents. See Remand
of Order No. 35 (Oct. 10, 2019).

On November 19, 2019, the ALJ granted motions to terminate the investigation as to the
Ziip Respondents and V4L based on settlement agreements. See Order Nos. 38 and 39 (Nov.
19, 2019), not rev’d by Comm’n Notice (Dec. 16, 2019). Accordingly, only respondent
Eonsmoke remained active in this investigation.

On December 12, 2019, the ALJ granted JLI’s motion to strike portions of Eonsmoke’s
posthearing brief. See Order No. 40 (Dec. 12, 2019). Specifically, these portions relate to the
issue of invalidity of asserted claim 4 of the 915 patent, which was not addressed by
Respondents’ expert or in their prehearing briefs. /d. at 3-5.

On December 13, 2019, the ALJ issued the FID finding a violation of section 337 by
Eonsmoke with respect to claims 1, 2, and 13 of the *669 patent; claims 12, 17, and 20 of the

’568 patent; claims 1, 2, and 4 of the 130 patent; and claims 1, 6, and 21 of the *915 patent
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(collectively, “the Asserted Eonsmoke Claims”).? No petitions for review were filed, which
means each party abandoned all issues decided adversely to that party. See 19 C.F.R.
§ 210.43(b)(4). No public interest submissions were filed in response to the Federal Register
notice seeking such submissions. See 85 Fed. Reg. 3720 (Jan. 22, 2020).

On February 13, 2020, the Commission issued a notice determining to review sua sponte
the FID in part and, on review, to adopt certain of the FID’s findings.’ 85 Fed. Reg. 9803-06
(Feb. 20, 2020). The notice also requested briefing on remedy, bonding, and the public interest.
Id. First, the Commission determined to review and, on review, declined to adopt the discussion
of the validity of element [c] of claim 12 of the *669 patent on pages 50 and 55 of the FID.
Second, with respect to the economic prong of the domestic industry requirement, the
Commission determined to review the discussion of the quantitative significance of JLI’s
contract manufacturers’ investments in the last paragraph on page 272 of the FID. Third, also
with respect to economic prong of the domestic industry requirement, the Commission
determined to review the discussion of Warranty and Customer Support and Regulatory
Compliance on pages 265-66 of the FID. The Commission determined not to review the
remainder of the FID, including the majority of the FID’s domestic industry analysis, which is
sufficient to support the FID’s finding that JLI has satisfied the domestic industry requirement

under subparagraphs 337(a)(3)(A) and (B) with respect to the 669, *568, *130, and 915

2 Discussion of the Asserted Patents, the accused products, and the domestic industry
products can be found in the FID at pages 9-13, 55-56, 117-18, 174, and 233.

3 With respect to issues under review, “the Commission may affirm, reverse, modify, set
aside or remand for further proceedings, in whole or in part, the initial determination of the
administrative law judge.” 19 C.F.R. § 210.45(c). The Commission also “may take no position
on specific issues or portions of the initial determination,” and “may make any finding or
conclusions that in its judgment are proper based on the record in the proceeding.” 1d.
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patents. Accordingly, the Commission found a violation of section 337 by reason of respondent
Eonsmoke’s importation of certain electronic nicotine delivery systems and components thereof
that infringe one or more of the Asserted Eonsmoke Claims. The Commission also found that
complainant JLI is entitled to relief against defaulted respondent XFire pursuant to 19 U.S.C. §
1337(g)(1).

On January 27, 2020, JLI and OUII filed their respective initial submissions on remedy,
bonding, and the public interest.* On March 5, 2020, JLI and OUII filed their respective reply
submissions.® No other party filed a submission before the Commission.

II. DISCUSSION

A. The FID’s Finding on the Quantitative Significance of JLI’s Contract
Manufacturers’ Investments

As explained below, the Commission declines to adopt the discussion of the quantitative
significance of JLI’s contract manufacturers’ investments in the last paragraph on page 272 of
the FID. In particular, the FID finds that “JLI and its contractors’ U.S. investments in the DI

Products are significant from a quantitative perspective,” in part because . percent of -

I D 270-71
272. However, the FID suggests that _ also conducts activities in- relating

to the JUUL system. For example, the FID explains that_ conducts activity in

4 See Complainant’s Statement on the Issues of Remedy, Public Interest, and Bonding,
EDIS Doc ID 703618 (Feb. 27, 2020) (“CSub”); Brief of the Office of Unfair Import
Investigations on Issues Under Review and on Remedy, the Public Interest, and Bonding, EDIS
Doc ID 703614 (Feb. 27, 2020) (“IASub”).

5 See Complainant’s Reply to Brief of the Office of Unfair Import Investigations on
Issues Under Review and on Remedy, the Public Interest, and Bonding, EDIS Doc ID 704165
(Mar. 5, 2020) (“CReply”); Reply of the Office of Unfair Import Investigations on Issues Under
Review and on Remedy, the Public Interest, and Bonding, EDIS Doc ID 704164 (Mar. 5, 2020)
(“TAReply”).
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filling the pods with e-liquid in the United States. See id. at 261, 272. The FID also explains

that the same contractor, _, along with other contractors located in -,
assemble empty pods in-. See id. at 260. If _ activities relating to the

JUUL system are indeed conducted in both - and the U.S., then not all of -
- facilities and employees can support a finding of quantitative significance.

The Commission finds that the remainder of the FID’s domestic industry analysis is
sufficient to support the FID’s finding that JLI has satisfied the domestic industry requirement
under subparagraphs 337(a)(3)(A) and (B) with respect to the *669, the *568, the 130, and the
’915 patents. Accordingly, the Commission affirms the FID’s finding that JLI has satisfied the
economic prong of the domestic industry requirement with respect to the Asserted Patents but
declines to adopt the last paragraph on page 272 of the FID.

B. The FID’s Discussion of JLI’s Warranty and Customer Supportand
Regulatory Compliance Activities

The Commission also determined to review the discussion of JLI’s Warranty and
Customer Support and Regulatory Compliance activities on pages 265-66 of the FID.

Specifically, JLI engages in “a variety of customer support and warranty activities related to the

JUUL system in the United States” including _
(. < 265. JLI's domestic activities also

include investments in complying with the U.S. Food and Drug Administration regulations

relating to ENDS products. See id. at 265-66. In particular, “JLI’s clinical research and

medical affairs departments plan, execute, and analyze the results of _

- studies designed to support JLI’s compliance and youth prevention efforts” in the

United States. CX-0017C at Q85 (citing CX-0014C at Q43); see id. at 259, 265-66.
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On review, the Commission has determined to affirm the FID’s discussion of JLI’s
warranty and customer support and regulatory compliance activities on pages 265-66 of the
FID. The Commission in the past has recognized similar types of investments in the United
States relating to the domestic industry product. See, e.g., Certain Marine Sonar Imaging
Devices, Including Downscan and Sidescan Devices, Products Containing the Same, and
Components Thereof, Inv. No. 337-TA-921, Comm’n Op. at 53-54 (Dec. 1, 2015) (recognizing
investments in the form of technical customer support, warranty and repair work); Certain
Strontium-Rubidium Radioisotope Infusion Systems, and Components Thereof Including
Generators, Inv. No. 337-TA-1110, Comm’n Op. at 40, 42 (Dec. 11, 2019) (recognizing
investments in FDA regulatory approval activities relating to the domestic industry product).®

III. REMEDY, BONDING, AND THE PUBLIC INTEREST

The RD recommends that, in the event the Commission determines that a violation of
section 337 has occurred, the Commission should issue a limited exclusion order (“LEO”’) and
cease and desist orders (“CDQO”) directed to each of respondents Eonsmoke and XFire and set
the amount of bond to be posted during the period of Presidential review at 100 percent of the

entered value of the infringing products. See FID at 273-79. The RD finds that the record in

® Commissioner Kearns observes that FDA regulatory compliance is required for a
nicotine delivery system from any source. The same can be said with regard to warranty and
customer support activities, which a supplier of a consumer product of any origin can be
expected to carry out. To the extent that certain activities needed to market a product in the
United States as a practical matter can only be performed in the United States, these activities
may not on their own distinguish a complainant’s activities from those of an importer. He finds
it unclear from evidence submitted whether (or which of) JLI’s activities in the areas of FDA
regulatory compliance and warranty and customer support are of a nature that can only be
conducted in the United States. See, e.g., CX-0014C (Danaher), CX-0017C (Mulhern).
However, he need not resolve that issue as he finds the other evidence on record cited by the
ALJ to be sufficient to demonstrate that JLI satisfied the domestic industry requirement of
section 337(a)(3)(A) and (B).
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this investigation contains no evidence that a remedial order would adversely affect the public
health and welfare, competitive conditions in the United States economy, the production of like
or directly competitive articles in the United States, or United States consumers. See id. at 280-
81.

A. Remedy

The Commission has “broad discretion in selecting the form, scope, and extent of the

remedy.” Viscofan, S.A. v. U.S. Int’1 Trade Comm’n, 787 F.2d 544, 548 (Fed. Cir. 1986).
1. Limited Exclusion Order

Section 337(d)(1) provides that “[1]f the Commission determines, as a result of an
investigation under this section, that there is a violation of this section, it shall direct that the
articles concerned, imported by any person violating the provision of this section, be excluded
from entry into the United States, unless, after considering the [public interest], it finds thatsuch
articles should not be excluded from entry.” 19 U.S.C. § 1337(d)(1). Section 337(g)(1)
provides that, when a complaint seeks an LEO against a party that has been found in default, the
Commission “shall, upon request, issue an exclusion from entry . . . limited to that person
unless” consideration of the public interest factors dictates that “such exclusion . . . should not
issue.” 19 U.S.C. § 1337(g)(1).

JLI and OUII agree that the Commission should issue an LEO directed at Eonsmoke and
XFire. While JLI and OUII agree on the scope of the LEO directed at Eonsmoke, they proposed
different scopes with respect to the LEO directed at XFire. Compare IASub Ex. B at 1 with
CSub Ex. A at 2. In particular, JLI submitted a proposed LEO that covered the same claims

with respect to both respondents while OUII submitted a proposed LEO covering different sets
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JLI Ex. 2042, Page 44 of 372



PUBLIC VERSION

of claims for each of the respondents.” Id. OUII proposed that the scope of the LEO for XFire
correspond to the claims asserted against XFire in the complaint. IAReply at 2-3; Amended
Complaint, 9§ 190. In its reply, JLI approves the use of OUII’s proposed LEOs. CReply at 1.
Based on the evidence in the record, the Commission determines that the appropriate
remedy in this investigation is an LEO directed to each of respondents Eonsmoke and XFire.
See FID at 273. There is no dispute that the LEO directed to Eonsmoke should prohibit the
unlicensed entry of “nicotine vaporizer devices and the associated pods sold for use with the
devices, and components thereof,” 83 Fed. Reg. 64157, that infringe one or more of the
Asserted Eonsmoke Claims (i.e., claims 1, 2, and 13 of the 669 patent; claims 12, 17, and 20 of
the *568 patent; claims 1, 2, and 4 of the *130 patent; and claims 1, 6, and 21 of the 915 patent).
JLI is also entitled to relief against defaulted respondent XFire pursuant to 19 U.S.C.
§ 1337(g)(1). As noted above, JLI’s reply approves the use of OUII’s proposed LEO. The
Commission finds that the LEO directed to XFire should be limited to the claims asserted in the
complaint as proposed by OUII and as later agreed to by JLI. Accordingly, the LEO directed to
XFire should prohibit the unlicensed entry of “nicotine vaporizer devices and the associated
pods sold for use with the devices, and components thereof” that infringe one or more of the
Asserted XFire Claims (i.e., claims 1, 2,4, 5,7, 8, 10, 12, 13, 16, 17, 20, and 21 of the 669
patent; claims 1, 2, 3,4, 9, 10, 11, 13, 14, 19, 20, 21, 24, 28, and 29 of the *139 patent; and

claims 1,2, 3,4,6,9, 11, 12, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22, 23, and 27 of the *915 pa‘[ent).8

7OUII’s proposed LEO directed to XFire covered the Asserted XFire Claims whereas
JLI’s proposed LEO directed to XFire covered the Asserted Eonsmoke Claims.

$ We remind the complainant that parties are to state their positions on remedy in their
initial submissions pursuant to the Commission’s Federal Register notice requesting briefing on
remedy. 85 Fed. Reg. at 9806. Here, complainant switched its position between its initial

11
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2. Cease and Desist Orders

Section 337(f)(1) provides that in addition to, or in lieu of, the issuance of an exclusion
order, the Commission may issue a CDO as a remedy for violation of section 337. See 19
U.S.C. § 1337(f)(1). CDOs are generally issued when, with respect to the imported infringing
products, respondents maintain commercially significant inventories in the United States or
have significant domestic operations that could undercut the remedy provided by an exclusion
order. See, e.g., Certain Table Saws Incorporating Active Injury Mitigation Technology &
Components Thereof (“Table Saws™), Inv. No. 337-TA-965, Comm’n Op. at 4-6 (Feb. 1, 2017);
Certain Protective Cases & Components Thereof, Inv. No. 337-TA-780, USITC Pub. No. 4405,
Comm’n Op. at 28 (Nov. 19, 2012) (citing Certain Laser Bar Code Scanners & Scan Engines,
Components Thereof & Prods. Containing Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-551, Comm’n Op. at 22
(June 24, 2007)). Complainants bear the burden on this issue. “A complainant seeking a cease
and desist order must demonstrate, based on the record, that this remedy is necessary to address
the violation found in the investigation so as to not undercut the relief provided by the exclusion
order.” Table Saws, Comm’n Op. at 5 (citing Certain Integrated Repeaters, Switches,
Transceivers, & Prods. Containing Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-435, USITC Pub. No. 3547 (Oct.
2002), Comm’n Op. at 27 (Aug. 16, 2002); see also H.R. REP. No. 100-40, at 160 (1987)).

Section 337(g)(1) provides that the Commission “shall, upon request, issue . . . a cease
and desist order . . . limited to that person unless” consideration of the public interest factors

dictates that “such . . . an order should not issue.” 19 U.S.C. § 1337(g)(1). In the case of named

submission and its reply submission as to the patent claims for which it sought a remedy against
XFire. Given the circumstances here where XFire was found in default, we find it appropriate
to issue the LEO and CDO as described herein.

12
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respondents in the United States who have been found in default or who have not participated in
the investigation, the Commission has inferred commercially significant domestic inventories or
significant domestic operations with respect to the infringing articles. See, e.g., Certain
Earpiece Devices and Components Thereof, Inv. No. 337-TA-1121, Comm’n Op. at 41-42
(Nov. 8, 2019); Certain Hand Dryers and Housing for Hand Dryers, Inv. No. 337-TA-1015,
Comm’n Op. at 24 (Oct. 30, 2017); Certain Mobile Device Holders and Components Thereof,
Inv. No. 337-TA-1028, Comm’n Op. at 27 (Mar. 22, 2018); Certain Agricultural Tractors,
Lawn Tractors, Riding Lawnmowers, and Components Thereof, Inv. No. 337-TA-486, Comm’n
Op. at 18 (Aug. 19, 2003); Certain Rare-Earth Magnets and Magnetic Materials and Articles
Containing Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-413, USITC Pub. No. 3307, Comm’n Op. at 17-18 (May
2000).

JLI and OUII agree that both Eonsmoke and XFire should be subject to CDOs.
However, OUII asserts that, as with JLI’s proposed LEO, JLI’s proposed CDOs for both
respondents do not correctly reflect the claims that were asserted against XFire at the time it
defaulted in this investigation, and improperly subjects XFire to claims in the ‘568 patent,
which was never asserted against XFire. [AReply at 3.

There is no dispute that Eonsmoke’s inventory of the accused products is commercially
significant. FID at 274 (citing CX-0017C at Q313). Specifically, the record evidence shows
that “Eonsmoke’s inventory of pods on March 8, 2019 was valued at between $2 million and $5
million, which equates to approximately 133,422 to 333,556 packs of pods at retail prices.” /d.
at 274-75 (citing CX-0756C; CX-0757C; CX-0851). Therefore, the record evidence supports

issuing a CDO prohibiting Eonsmoke from further importing, selling, and distributing products
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in the United States that infringe one or more of the Asserted Eonsmoke Claims.? See 19 U.S.C.
§ 1337(H)(1).

As noted above, XFire has been found by the Commission to be in default and, thus, the
prerequisites of section 337(g)(1) are satisfied with respect to XFire. As the RD points out,
JLI’s amended complaint alleges that XFire imported infringing devices and pods and that it
“maintain[s] a commercially-significant inventory of the XFire devices and pods in the United
States.” FID at 275 (citing Amended Complaint 9 147-49, 162, 192). Therefore, pursuant to
section 337(g)(1), the Commission has presumed the facts alleged in the complaint to be true
and has determined to issue a CDO directed to XFire, as JLI requests, provided the public

interest will not be adversely affected by the issuance of the order.!’ See 19 U.S.C.

® When the presence of infringing domestic inventory or domestic operations is asserted
as the basis for a CDO under section 337(f)(1), Commissioner Schmidtlein does not adopt the
view that the inventory or domestic operations needs to be “commercially significant” in order
to issue the CDO. See, e.g., Certain Magnetic Tape Cartridges and Components Thereof, Inv.
No. 337-TA-1058, Comm’n Op. at 65, n.24 (Mar. 25, 2019); Table Saws, Comm’n Op. at 6-7,
n.2. In Commissioner Schmidtlein’s view, the presence of some infringing domestic inventory
or domestic operations, regardless of its commercial significance, provides a basis to issue a
CDO under section 337(f)(1). Id. Accordingly, Commissioner Schmidtlein supports issuance
of the CDO against Eonsmoke under section 337(f)(1) due to the presence of some infringing
domestic inventory, regardless of the commercial significance.

19 Commissioner Schmidtlein supports issuance of the CDO against XFire, the
respondent in default, for the reasons provided in her separate views in Certain Electric Skin
Care Devices, Brushes and Chargers Therefore, and Kits Containing the Same. See Inv. No.
337-TA-959, Comm’n Op., Separate Views of Chairman Schmidtlein (Feb. 13, 2017) (public
version). Specifically, because remedial relief as to XFire is governed by section 337(g)(1), she
finds that the mandatory “shall, upon request, issue” language in section 337(g)(1) requires the
Commission to issue the requested CDO against XFire. See id at 2-5; see also Certain
Industrial Automation Systems and Components Thereof Including Control Systems,
Controllers, Visualization Hardware, Motion and Motor Control Systems, Networking
Equipment, Safety Devices, and Power Supplies, Inv. No. 337-TA-1074, Comm’n Op.,
Dissenting Views of Commissioner Schmidtlein (April 23, 2019) (public version).
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§ 1337(g)(1). The CDO prohibits XFire from further importing, selling, and distributing
products in the United States that infringe one or more of the Asserted XFire Claims.

The Commission declines to include JLI’s two edits to OUII’s proposed CDOs because
the edits are generally not found in CDOs and JLI has made no showing that these provisions
are necessary. First, JLI’s edit proposes that provisions of the CDOs apply to respondents’
“contractors” and “joint ventures.” CReply, Ex. 1. JLI’s remedy brief, however, provides no
evidence or argument that these entities should be included among the entities that are bound by
the terms of the CDOs. Commission CDOs typically include language providing that the
provisions of the CDO shall apply to the respondent and to any of its principals, stockholders,
officers, directors, employees, agents, distributors, controlled (whether by stock ownership or
otherwise) and majority-owned business entities, successors, and assigns, and to each of them,
insofar as they are engaging in prohibited conduct for, with, or otherwise on behalf of,
respondent. In short, JLI has provided no justification for why this standard language is
insufficient in scope to address the violations in this investigation. Moreover, JLI’s amended
complaint makes no allegations with respect to any contractors or joint ventures in connection
with these respondents. In fact, the only discussion of contractors in the amended complaint is
with respect to JLI’s domestic industry activities.

Second, JLI proposes to include the model names of the respondents’ accused products
in the definition of “covered products” although its proposal does not limit the covered products
to only the accused products. CReply, Ex. 1. Commission orders generally do not name
specific infringing products because such information can be easily found in the record. Such is
the case here. See, e.g., Amended Complaint, 9 113 (Eonsmoke accused products), 115 (XFire

accused products); FID at 9, 35. JLI has provided no justification for deviating from the
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Commission’s long-standing practice of declining to name specific models in its exclusion
orders. Cf. Certain Ground Fault Circuit Interrupters and Products Containing Same, Inv. No.
337-TA-615, Comm’n Op. at 27 (rejecting respondents’ request to limit exclusion orders to
specific model numbers in order to prevent circumvention).

B. Public Interest

Section 337 requires the Commission, upon finding a violation of section 337, to issue
an LEO “unless, after considering the effect of such exclusion upon the public health and
welfare, competitive conditions in the United States economy, the production of like or directly
competitive articles in the United States, and United States consumers, it finds that such articles
should not be excluded from entry.” 19 U.S.C. § 1337(d)(l). Similarly, the Commission must
consider these public interest factors before issuing a CDO. 19 U.S.C. § 1337(f)(1). The same
holds for remedial orders issued pursuant to section 337(g)(1). 19 U.S.C. § 1337(g)(1).

Under appropriate facts and circumstances, the Commission may determine that no
remedy should issue because of the adverse impacts on the public interest. See, e.g., Certain
Fluidized Supporting Apparatus & Components Thereof, Inv. Nos. 337-TA-182/188, USITC
Pub. 1667, Comm’n Op. at 1-2, 23-25 (Oct. 1984) (finding that the public interest warranted
denying complainant’s requested relief). Moreover, when the circumstances of a particular
investigation require, the Commission has tailored its relief in light of the statutory public
interest factors. For example, the Commission has allowed continued importation for ongoing
medical research, exempted service parts, grandfathered certain infringing products, and
delayed the imposition of remedies to allow affected third-party consumers to transition to non-
infringing products. E.g., Certain Microfluidic Devices, Inv. No. 337-TA-1068 Comm’n Op. at
1, 22-48, 53-54 (analyzing the public interest, discussing applicable precedent, and ultimately

issuing a tailored LEO and a tailored CDO); Certain Road Milling Machines & Components
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Thereof, Inv. No. 337-TA-1067, Comm’n Op. at 32-33 (July 18, 2019) (exempting service
parts); Certain Baseband Processor Chips & Chipsets, Transmitter, & Receiver (Radio) Chips,
Power Control Chips, & Prods. Containing Same, Including Cellular Tel. Handsets, 337-TA-
543, USITC Pub. No. 4258, Comm’n Op. at 150-51 (Oct. 2011) (grandfathering certain
products); Certain Personal Data & Mobile Comm’n Devices & Related Software, 337-TA-710,
USITC Pub. No. 4331, Comm’n Op., at 72-73, 80-81 (June 2012) (delaying imposition of
remedy).

The statute requires the Commission to consider and make findings on the public interest
in every case in which a violation is found regardless of the quality or quantity of public interest
information supplied by the parties. 19 U.S.C. §§ 1337(d)(1), (H)(1), (g)(1). Thus, the
Commission publishes a notice inviting the parties as well as interested members of the public
and interested government agencies to gather and present evidence on the public interest at
multiple junctures in the proceeding. See 19 C.F.R. § 210.50(a)(4).

The ALJ finds that the record in this investigation contains no evidence that a remedial
order would adversely affect the public health and welfare, competitive conditions in the United
States economy, the production of like or directly competitive articles in the United States, or
United States consumers. See FID at 280-81. No respondent briefed the statutory public
interest factors before the ALJ, although the issue of public interest was delegated to the ALJ in
the notice of investigation. /d. at 280. In addition, no third party responded to the
Commission’s Notice requesting submissions from the public with respect to the public interest.
See 85 Fed. Reg. 3720 (Jan. 22, 2020).

JLI and OUII agree that there are no public health, safety or welfare concerns implicated

by the LEO and CDOs. FID at 280-81. According to OUII, “there is no evidence that
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Respondents’ accused products have any unique public health benefits” and “there is no
evidence that any remedial orders issued in this investigation would adversely affect the public
health and welfare.” IASub at 14. JLI and OUII also agree that JLI has adequate capacity to
meet any increase in demand if the accused products are excluded. /d.; CSub at 10. In addition,
JLI asserts that the remedial orders will positively impact consumers because JLI’s products
“are made with the highest quality materials and are subject to stringent quality-control
measures to ensure a reliable and consistent user experience” and the orders “will benefit adult
consumers . . . by removing from the market products that are made with unknown materials in
unknown locations by unknown methods.” CSub at 11.

The record in this investigation contains no evidence that issuance of an LEO or CDO
would adversely affect the public health and welfare, competitive conditions in the United
States economy, the production of like or directly competitive articles in the United States, or
United States consumers. See 19 U.S.C. §§ 1337(d)(1), (f)(1), (g)(1). In addition, JLI has a
domestic industry and it can readily replace the products at issue with their own product.
Accordingly, based on the record of this investigation, the Commission determines that the
public interest does not preclude the issuance of remedial orders.

C. Bonding

If the Commission enters an exclusion order or a cease and desist order, a respondent
may continue to import and sell its products during the 60-day period of Presidential review
under a bond in an amount determined by the Commission to be “sufficient to protect the
complainant from any injury.” 19 U.S.C. § 1337()(3); see also 19 C.F.R. § 210.50(a)(3).

When reliable price information is available in the record, the Commission has often set the
bond in an amount that would eliminate the price differential between the domestic product and

the imported, infringing product. See Certain Microsphere Adhesives, Processes for Making
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Same, & Prods. Containing Same, Including Self-stick Repositionable Notes, Inv. No. 337-TA-
366, USITC Pub. No. 2949, Comm’n Op. at 24 (Jan. 16, 1996). The Commission also has used
a reasonable royalty rate to set the bond amount where a reasonable royalty rate could be
ascertained from the evidence in the record. See, e.g., Certain Audio Digital-to-Analog
Converters & Prods. Containing Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-499, Comm’n Op. at 25 (Mar. 3,
2005). Where the record establishes that the calculation of a price differential is impractical or
there is insufficient evidence in the record to determine a reasonable royalty, the Commission
has imposed a 100 percent bond. See, e.g., Certain Liquid Crystal Display Modules, Prods.
Containing Same, & Methods Using the Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-634, Comm’n Op. at 6-7 (Nov.
24,2009). The complainant, however, bears the burden of establishing the need for a bond.
Certain Rubber Antidegradants, Components Thereof & Prods. Containing Same, Inv. No. 337-
TA-533, USITC Pub. No. 3975, Comm’n Op. at 40 (July 21, 2006).

JLI seeks imposition of a bond in the amount of 100 percent of entered value during the
period of Presidential review “due to the complexities and wide range of [price] differentials”
for the accused products. CSub at 4-8. The RD agrees and, in particular, finds that the evidence
shows: (i) there is direct competition between participating respondents’ accused products and
JLI’s JUUL system, which will result in continuing injury to JLI in the form of displaced sales;
(i1) participating respondents have directly targeted JLI and the JUUL system with their
marketing; (iii) publicly available pricing data even on the same respondents’ websites is, at
times, inconsistent; (iv) participating respondents consistently provide discounts or coupons for
their products beyond the publicly available price; and (v) JLI’s domestic industry products and
accused products are sold in a variety of configurations, making direct pricing comparisons

difficult. See FID at 276-279; IASub at 16-17.
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The Commission adopts the RD’s findings and has determined to set the bond in the
amount of 100 percent of the entered value of the infringing products during the period of
Presidential review. As the RD finds, the record shows the complexities and wide range of
price differentials between Eonsmoke’s accused products and JLI’s JUUL system, which
supports a bond of 100 percent. See FID at 276-279; CSub at 4-7 (citing CX-0017C at QQ316-
25, 328, 334-46). Eonsmoke does not challenge the RD’s recommendation and did not provide
briefing on the appropriate bond. With regard to XFire, it was found in default in this
investigation and provided no discovery relating to pricing or royalty information. The
Commission generally sets the bond at 100 percent for defaulting respondents. See Certain
Neodymuim-Iron-Boron Magnets, Magnet Alloys, & Prods. Containing Same, Inv. No.337-TA-
372, Comm’n Op. at 15 (May 1996).

IV.  CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Commission affirms the discussion of Warranty and
Customer Support and Regulatory Compliance on pages 265-66 of the FID and declines to
adopt the discussion of the quantitative significance of JLI’s contract manufacturers’
investments in the last paragraph on page 272 of the FID. The Commission determines that the
appropriate form of relief is an LEO and CDOs directed to Eonsmoke and XFire. The
Commission finds that the public interest does not preclude issuance of these orders. The
Commission sets the bond during the period of Presidential review in the amount of 100 percent

of the entered value of the infringing products.
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By order of the Commission.

W7
KJ Y
Lisa R. Barton

Secretary to the Commission
Issued: May 5, 2020
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CERTAIN ELECTRONIC NICOTINE DELIVERY SYSTEMS Inv. No. 337-TA-1139
AND COMPONENTS THEREOF

PUBLIC CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I, Lisa R. Barton, hereby certify that the attached Opinion, Commission has been
served via EDIS upon the Commission Investigative Attorney, Paul Gennari, Esq., and the

following parties as indicated, on May 05, 2020.
e

Lisa R. Barton, Secretary

U.S. International Trade Commission
500 E Street, SW, Room 112
Washington, DC 20436

On Behalf of Complainants Juul Labs, Inc.:

Daniel E. Yonan, Esq. [] Via Hand Delivery
STERNE, KESSLER, GOLDSTEIN & FOX, P.L.L.C. [] Via Express Delivery

1100 New York Avenue, N.W. O Via First Class Mail
Washington, DC 20005 Other: Email Notification of
Email: dyonan@sternekessler.com Availability for Download

On Behalf of Respondents Eonsmoke, LLC:

Stephen M. Lobbin, Esq. [J Via Hand Delivery

SML AVVOCATI P.C. [ Via Express Delivery

7538 Draper Avenue [J Via First Class Mail

San Diego, California 92037 Other: Email Notification of
Email: sml@smlavvocati.com Auvailability for Download

Respondent:

XFire, Inc. [ Via Hand Delivery
820 Summer Park Dr., Suite 700 [J Via Express Delivery
Stafford, TX 77477 [J Via First Class Mail
Other: Service to Be
Completed by
Complainants
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UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C.
In the Matter of
CERTAIN ELECTRONIC NICOTINE Investigation No. 337-TA-1139
DELIVERY SYSTEMS AND
COMPONENTS THEREOF

NOTICE OF A COMMISSION DETERMINATION TO REVIEW THE
FINAL INITIAL DETERMINATION IN PART AND TO AFFIRM THE
FINDING OF A VIOLATION OF SECTION 337;
SCHEDULE FOR FILING WRITTEN SUBMISSIONS ON
REMEDY, THE PUBLIC INTEREST AND BONDING;
EXTENSION OF THE TARGET DATE

AGENCY: U.S. International Trade Commission.
ACTION: Notice.

SUMMARY: Notice is hereby given that the U.S. International Trade Commission has
determined to review the presiding administrative law judge’s (“ALJ”) final initial determination
(“ID”) in part. On review, the Commission affirms the ID’s finding of a violation of section 337
in the above-captioned investigation. The Commission requests written submissions from the
parties, interested government agencies, and interested persons on the issues of remedy, the
public interest, and bonding concerning respondent Eonsmoke, LLC (“Eonsmoke”) and
defaulting respondent XFire, Inc. (“XFire”). The Commission has also determined to extend the
target date for completion of the above-captioned investigation to Monday, April 20, 2020.

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT: Cathy Chen, Office of the General Counsel,
U.S. International Trade Commission, 500 E Street SW, Washington, D.C. 20436, telephone
202-205-2392. Copies of non-confidential documents filed in connection with this investigation
are or will be available for inspection during official business hours (8:45 a.m. to 5:15 p.m.) in
the Office of the Secretary, U.S. International Trade Commission, 500 E Street, SW,
Washington, D.C. 20436, telephone (202) 205-2000. General information concerning the
Commission may also be obtained by accessing its Internet server at https./www.usitc.gov. The
public record for this investigation may be viewed on the Commission’s electronic docket
(EDIS) at https.//edis.usitc.gov. Hearing-impaired persons are advised that information on this
matter can be obtained by contacting the Commission’s TDD terminal on (202) 205-1810.

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION: On December 13, 2018, the Commission instituted
this investigation under section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended, 19 U.S.C. 1337,
based on a complaint filed on behalf of Juul Labs, Inc. (“JLI”) of San Francisco, California. 83
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FR 64156 (Dec. 13, 2018). The complaint, as amended and supplemented, alleges violations of
section 337 based upon the importation into the United States, the sale for importation, and the
sale within the United States after importation of certain electronic nicotine delivery systems and
components thereof by reason of infringement of certain claims of U.S. Patent Nos.: 10,070,669
(“the *669 patent™); 10,076,139 (“the *139 patent™); 10,045,568 (“the *568 patent™); 10,058,130
(“the *130 patent”); and 10,104,915 (“the *915 patent™) (collectively, “the Asserted Patents”). Id.
The Commission’s notice of investigation named twenty-one respondents, including Eonsmoke
of Clifton, New Jersey and XFire of Stafford, Texas. Id. at 64157. The Office of Unfair Import
Investigations (“OUII”) is also a party to the investigation.

On February 25, 2019, the ALJ granted JLI’s motion to amend the complaint and notice
of investigation to change the name of respondent Bo Vaping of Garden City, New York to
ECVD/MMS Wholesale LLC of Garden City, New York and the name of respondent MMS
Distribution LLC of Rock Hill, New York to MMS/ECVD LLC of Garden City, New York. See
Order No. 8 (Feb. 25, 2019), not rev’d by Comm’n Notice (Mar. 25, 2019).

On February 28, 2019, the ALJ granted a motion to amend the complaint and notice of
investigation to change the name of respondent Limitless Mod Co. of Simi Valley, California to
Limitless MOD, LLC of Simi Valley, California. See Order No. 10 (Feb. 28, 2019), not rev'd by
Comm’n Notice (Mar. 27, 2019).

Before the evidentiary hearing, JLI settled with the following eight respondents: J Well
France S.A.S. of Paris, France; ECVD/MMS Wholesale LLC; MMS/ECVD LLC; The Electric
Tobacconist, LLC of Boulder, Colorado; ALD Group Limited of Guangdong Province, China;
Flair Vapor LLC of South Plainfield, New Jersey; Shenzhen Joecig Techonology Co., Ltd. of
Guangdong Province, China; and Myle Vape Inc. of Jamaica, New York. See Order No. 31
(July 30, 2019), not rev’d by Comm’n Notice (Aug. 23, 2019); Order No. 16 (Mar. 21, 2019),
not rev’d by Comm’n Notice (Apr. 4, 2019); Order No. 33 (July 30, 2019), not rev’'d by Comm’n
Notice (Aug. 23, 2019); Order No. 13 (Mar. 12, 2019), not rev’d by Comm’n Notice (Apr. 5,
2019); Order No. 34 (July 30, 2019), not rev’d by Comm’n Notice (Aug. 23, 2019); Order No.
32 (July 30, 2019), not rev'd by Comm’n Notice (Aug. 23, 2019).

In addition, the investigation terminated as to the following six respondents based on a
consent order stipulation and the issuance of a consent order: Vapor Hub International, Inc. of
Simi Valley, California; Limitless MOD, LLC; Asher Dynamics, Inc. of Chino, California; Ply
Rock of Chino, California; Infinite-N Technology Limited of Guangdong Province, China; and
King Distribution LLC of Elmwood Park, New Jersey. See Order No. 9 (Feb. 27, 2019), not
rev’d by Comm’n Notice (Mar. 27, 2019); Order No. 11 (Feb. 28, 2019), not rev’'d by Comm’n
Notice (Mar. 26, 2019); Order No. 18 (Mar. 28, 2019), not rev'd by Comm’n Notice (Apr. 11,
2019); Order No. 20 (Apr. 2, 2019), not rev’d by Comm’n Notice (Apr. 15, 2019).

On April 23, 2019, the ALJ found respondent XFire in default pursuant to Commission

Rule 210.16(b), 19 CFR 210.16(b). See Order No. 22 (Apr. 23, 2019), not rev’'d by Comm’n
Notice (May 16, 2019).
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Also, prior to the evidentiary hearing, the ALJ granted JLI’s motion for partial
termination of the investigation with respect to allegations of infringement as to all asserted
claims of the *139 patent and certain asserted claims of the other asserted patents. See Order No.
36 (Aug. 8, 2019), not rev’d by Comm’n Notice (Sep. 5, 2019). As a result, the following
claims remain at issue in the investigation: claims 1, 2, and 13 of the 669 patent; claims 12, 17,
and 20 of the *568 patent; claims 1, 2, and 4 of the *130 patent; and claims 1, 6, and 21 of the
’915 patent (collectively, “the Asserted Claims™).

JLI and the Commission were unable to serve respondent Keep Vapor Electronic Tech.
Co., Ltd. of Shenzhen, China despite multiple attempts at service. The final ID states that JLI
does not request any relief against this respondent. See ID at 2 n.1.

On May 21, 2019, the ALJ granted a motion to amend the complaint and notice of
investigation to change the name of respondent Ziip Lab Co., Ltd. of Guangdong Province,
China to SS Group Holdings of Guangdong Province, China. See Order No. 26 (May 21, 2019),
not rev’d by Comm’n Notice (June 14, 2019).

Only five respondents participated in the evidentiary hearing: SS Group Holdings; ZLab
S.A. of Punta del Este — Maldonado, Uruguay; Shenzhen Yibo Technology Co. Ltd. Of
Guangdong Province, China (collectively, “the Ziip Respondents™); Vapor 4 Life Holdings, Inc.
of Northbrook, Illinois (“V4L"); and Eonsmoke.

On August 5, 2019, one day before the prehearing conference, the ALJ issued an ID
(Order No. 35), granting JLI’s motion for summary determination of importation,
infringement, and domestic industry. The ALJ found that JLI was entitled to summary
determination of importation with respect to the Ziip Respondents and their accused products;
Eonsmoke and its accused products; and V4L and certain V4L accused products. See Order
No. 35 at 4-11 (Aug. 5, 2019). Citing to a stipulation between JLI and the Ziip Respondents,
the ALJ stated in his infringement analysis with respect to the Ziip Respondents’ accused
products that “the question of whether Ziip accused products contain or perform each
limitation of asserted claims is moot.” Id. at 11. The ALJ did not specifically state whether
summary determination of infringement as to the Ziip Respondents was denied or granted nor
the reasoning supporting grant or denial of the motion as to this issue. /d.

An evidentiary hearing was held from August 6-7, 2019.

On September 4, 2019 the Commission reviewed Order No. 35 in part. Specifically,
the Commission reviewed the ALJ’s analysis as to infringement and a statement regarding
mootness on page 11 of the ID. The Commission remanded to the ALJ for clarification on
this issue and as to whether the ID grants or denies summary determination that the Ziip
Respondents infringe the Asserted Patents. See Comm’n Notice (Sep. 4, 2019).

In response to the Commission’s September 4, 2019 Notice, the ALJ clarified that Order
No. 35 denied summary determination of infringement as to the Ziip Respondents because that
issue was moot in light of the stipulation between JLI and the Ziip Respondents. See Remand of
Order No. 35 (Oct. 10, 2019).
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On November 19, 2019, the ALJ granted motions to terminate the investigation as to the
Ziip Respondents and V4L based on settlement agreements. See Order Nos. 38 and 39 (Nov. 19,
2019), not rev’d by Comm’n Notice (Dec. 16, 2019). Accordingly, only respondent Eonsmoke
remains active in this investigation.

On December 12, 2019, the ALJ granted JLI’s motion to strike portions of the Ziip
Respondents’ and Eonsmoke’s posthearing briefs. See Order No. 40 (Dec. 12, 2019).
Specifically, these portions relate to the issue of invalidity of asserted claim 4 of the *915 patent,
which was not addressed by Respondents’ expert or in their prehearing briefings. Id. at 3-5.

On December 13, 2019, the ALJ issued a combined final ID and recommended
determination (“RD”), finding a violation of section 337 by respondent Eonsmoke. Specifically,
the final ID finds, inter alia, that JLI satisfied the importation requirement as to Eonsmoke’s
accused products; that JLI has shown Eonsmoke’s accused products infringe the Asserted
Claims; that JLI has satisfied the domestic industry requirement with respect to the Asserted
Patents; and that the Asserted Claims have not been shown to be invalid. In addition, in the
event the Commission finds a violation of section 337, the RD recommends that the Commission
issue a limited exclusion order (“LEO”) and cease and desist orders (“CDO”) directed at
Eonsmoke and defaulting respondent XFire, and impose a 100 percent bond during the period of
Presidential review.

No petitions for review were filed, which means each party has abandoned all issues
decided adversely to that party. See 19 CFR 210.43(b)(4).

Having reviewed the record of this investigation, including the final ID, the Commission
has determined to sua sponte review the final ID in part. 19 CFR 210.44. Specifically, the
Commission has determined to review and, on review, decline to adopt the discussion of the
validity of element [c] of claim 12 of the *669 patent on pages 50 and 55 of the final ID. The
Commission has also determined to review the discussion of Warranty and Customer Support
and Regulatory Compliance on pages 265-266 of the final ID and the discussion of the
quantitative significance of JLI’s contract manufacturers’ investments in the last paragraph on
page 272 of the final ID. The Commission has determined not to review the remainder of the
final ID, including the other portions of the ID’s domestic industry analysis, which are sufficient
to support the ID’s finding that JLI has satisfied the domestic industry requirement under
subparagraphs 337(a)(3)(A) and (B) with respect to the Asserted Patents. Accordingly, the
Commission finds a violation of section 337 by reason of Eonsmoke’s importation of electronic
nicotine delivery systems and components thereof that infringe one or more of claims 1, 2, and
13 of the 669 patent; claims 12, 17, and 20 of the *568 patent; claims 1, 2, and 4 of the 130
patent; and claims 1, 6, and 21 of the *915 patent. The Commission also finds that JLI is entitled
to relief against defaulting respondent XFire pursuant to 19 U.S.C. 1337(g)(1).

The Commission has determined to extend the target date for completion of the
investigation to Monday, April 20, 2020.
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In connection with the final disposition of this investigation, the statute authorizes
issuance of (1) an order that could result in the exclusion of the subject articles from entry into
the United States, and/or (2) cease and desist order(s) that could result in the respondent(s) being
required to cease and desist from engaging in unfair acts in the importation and sale of such
articles. Accordingly, the Commission is interested in receiving written submissions that address
the form of remedy, if any, that should be ordered. If a party seeks exclusion of an article from
entry into the United States for purposes other than entry for consumption, the party should so
indicate and provide information establishing that activities involving other types of entry either
are adversely affecting it or likely to do so. For background, see Certain Devices for Connecting
Computers via Telephone Lines, Inv. No. 337-TA-360, USITC Pub. No. 2843, Comm’n Op. at 7-
10 (Dec. 1994). In addition, if a party seeks issuance of any cease and desist orders, the written
submissions should address that request in the context of recent Commission opinions, including
those in Certain Arrowheads with Deploying Blades and Components Thereof and Packaging
Therefor, Inv. No. 337-TA-977, Comm’n Op. (Apr. 28, 2017) and Certain Electric Skin Care
Devices, Brushes and Chargers Therefor, and Kits Containing the Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-959,
Comm’n Op. (Feb. 13, 2017). Specifically, if Complainant seeks a cease and desist order against
a respondent, the written submissions should respond to the following requests:

1. Please identify with citations to the record any information regarding
commercially significant inventory in the United States as to each
respondent against whom a cease and desist order is sought. If
Complainant also relies on other significant domestic operations that
could undercut the remedy provided by an exclusion order, please
identify with citations to the record such information as to each
respondent against whom a cease and desist order is sought.

2. In relation to the infringing products, please identify any information
in the record, including allegations in the pleadings, that addresses the
existence of any domestic inventory, any domestic operations, or any
sales-related activity directed at the United States for each respondent
against whom a cease and desist order is sought.

3. Please discuss any other basis upon which the Commission could enter
a cease and desist order.

The statute requires the Commission to consider the effects of any remedy upon the
public interest. The public interest factors the Commission will consider include the effect that
an exclusion order would have on (1) the public health and welfare, (2) competitive conditions in
the U.S. economy, (3) U.S. production of articles that are like or directly competitive with those
that are subject to investigation, and (4) U.S. consumers. The Commission is therefore interested
in receiving written submissions that address the aforementioned public interest factors in the
context of this investigation.

If the Commission orders some form of remedy, the U.S. Trade Representative, as
delegated by the President, has 60 days to approve, disapprove, or take no action on the
Commission’s determination. See Presidential Memorandum of July 21, 2005, 70 FR 43251
(July 26, 2005). During this period, the subject articles would be entitled to enter the United

5
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States under bond, in an amount determined by the Commission and prescribed by the Secretary
of the Treasury. The Commission is therefore interested in receiving submissions concerning the
amount of the bond that should be imposed if a remedy is ordered.

WRITTEN SUBMISSIONS: Parties to the investigation, interested government
agencies, and any other interested parties are encouraged to file written submissions on the issues
of remedy, the public interest, and bonding. Such initial submissions should include views on
the recommended determination by the ALJ on remedy and bonding.

Complainant and the Commission Investigative Attorney are also requested to identify
the form of remedy sought and to submit proposed remedial orders for the Commission’s
consideration in their initial written submissions. Complainant is further requested to state the
dates that the Asserted Patents expire, the HTSUS numbers under which the accused products
are imported, and to supply the identification information for all known importers of the products
at issue in this investigation. The written submissions and proposed remedial orders must be
filed no later than close of business on February 27, 2020. Reply submissions must be filed no
later than the close of business on March 5, 2020. No further submissions on these issues will
be permitted unless otherwise ordered by the Commission.

Persons filing written submissions must file the original document electronically on or
before the deadlines stated above and submit 8 true paper copies to the Office of the Secretary by
noon the next day pursuant to Commission Rule 210.4(f), 19 C.F.R. 210.4(f). Submissions
should refer to the investigation number (Inv. No. 337-TA-1139) in a prominent place on the
cover page and/or the first page. (See Handbook for Electronic Filing Procedures,
https.//'www.usitc. gov/documents/handbook_on_filing procedures.pdf). Persons with questions
regarding filing should contact the Secretary, (202) 205-2000.

Any person desiring to submit a document to the Commission in confidence must request
confidential treatment. All such requests should be directed to the Secretary to the Commission
and must include a full statement of the reasons why the Commission should grant such
treatment. See 19 CFR 201.6. Documents for which confidential treatment by the Commission
is properly sought will be treated accordingly. A redacted non-confidential version of the
document must also be filed simultaneously with any confidential filing. All information,
including confidential business information and documents for which confidential treatment is
properly sought, submitted to the Commission for purposes of this investigation may be
disclosed to and used: (i) by the Commission, its employees and Offices, and contract personnel
(a) for developing or maintaining the records of this or a related proceeding, or (b) in internal
investigations, audits, reviews, and evaluations relating to the programs, personnel, and
operations of the Commission including under 5 U.S.C. Appendix 3; or (ii) by U.S. government
employees and contract personnel, solely for cybersecurity purposes. All contract personnel will
sign appropriate nondisclosure agreements. All nonconfidential written submissions will be
available for public inspection at the Office of the Secretary and on EDIS.
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The authority for the Commission’s determination is contained in section 337 of the
Tariff Act of 1930, as amended, 19 U.S.C. 1337, and in Part 210 of the Commission’s Rules of
Practice and Procedure, 19 CFR Part 210.

By order of the Commission.

Yize>

Lisa R. Barton
Secretary to the Commission

Issued: February 13, 2020
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CERTAIN ELECTRONIC NICOTINE DELIVERY SYSTEMS Inv. No. 337-TA-1139
AND COMPONENTS THEREOF

PUBLIC CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I, Lisa R. Barton, hereby certify that the attached NOTICE has been served by hand
upon the Commission Investigative Attorney, Paul Gennari, Esq., and the following parties as

indicated, on February 13, 2020.

Lisa R. Barton, Secretary

U.S. International Trade Commission
500 E Street, SW, Room 112
Washington, DC 20436

|
On Behalf of Complainants Juul Labs, Inc.:

Daniel E. Yonan, Esq. [J Via Hand Delivery
STERNE, KESSLER, GOLDSTEIN & FOX, P.L.L.C. O Via Express Delivery
1100 New York Avenue, N.W. & Via First Class Mail

Washington, DC 20005

On Behalf of Respondents Eonsmoke, LLC,

Stephen M. Lobbin, Esq.
SML AVVOCATI P.C.
7538 Draper Avenue

San Diego, California 92037

Respondents:

Keep Vapor Electronic Tech. Co., Ltd.

Block D, XinLong Techno Park
Shaling Town, Bao An District
Shenzhen, China

O Other:

[J Via Hand Delivery
E]J/ia Express Delivery

Via First Class Mail
O Other:

[J Via Hand Delivery
[J Via Express Delivery
[#Via First Class Mail
U] Other:
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UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C.

In the Matter of

CERTAIN ELECTRONIC NICOTINE Investigation No. 337-TA-1139
DELIVERY SYSTEMS AND
COMPONENTS THEREOF

NOTICE OF A COMMISSION DETERMINATION TO REVIEW IN
PART AN INITIAL DETERMINATION GRANTING IN PART
COMPLAINANT’S MOTION FOR SUMMARY DETERMINATION OF
IMPORTATION, INFRINGEMENT, AND DOMESTIC INDUSTRY

AGENCY: U.S. International Trade Commission.
ACTION: Notice.

SUMMARY: Notice is hereby given that the U.S. International Trade Commission has
determined to review in part an initial determination (“ID”) (Order No. 35) of the presiding
administrative law judge (“ALJ”) granting in part the Complainant’s motion for summary
determination of importation, infringement, and domestic industry. The Commission has
determined to remand to the ALJ for clarification regarding the analysis of infringement and the
statement regarding mootness.

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT: Lynde Herzbach, Office of the General
Counsel, U.S. International Trade Commission, 500 E Street SW, Washington, D.C. 20436,
telephone 202-205-3228. Copies of non-confidential documents filed in connection with this
investigation are or will be available for inspection during official business hours (8:45 a.m. to
5:15 p.m.) in the Office of the Secretary, U.S. International Trade Commission, 500 E Street,
SW, Washington, D.C. 20436, telephone (202) 205-2000. General information concerning the
Commission may also be obtained by accessing its Internet server at https.//www.usitc.gov. The
public record for this investigation may be viewed on the Commission’s electronic docket
(EDIS) at https://edis.usitc.gov. Hearing-impaired persons are advised that information on this
matter can be obtained by contacting the Commission’s TDD terminal on (202) 205-1810.

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION: On December 13, 2018, the Commission instituted
this investigation under section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended, 19 U.S.C. 1337
(“section 337”) based on a complaint filed on behalf of Juul Labs, Inc. (“JLI”) of San Francisco,
California. 83 Fed Reg. 64156-57 (Dec. 13,2018). The complaint, as amended and
supplemented, alleges violations of section 337 based upon the importation into the United
States, the sale for importation, and the sale within the United States after importation of certain
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electronic nicotine delivery systems and components thereof by reason of infringement of certain
claims of U.S. Patent Nos. 10,070,669; 10,076,139; 10,045,568; 10,058,130; and 10,104,915
(collectively, “the Asserted Patents™). Id. The Commission’s notice of investigation names
twenty-one respondents, including Zlab S.A. of Punta del Este — Maldonado, Uruguay; SS Group
Holdings of Shenzhen City, China; and Shenzhen Yibo Technology Co. Ltd. of Shenzhen City,
China (collectively, “the Ziip Respondents™); Eonsmoke LLC of Clifton, New Jersey
(“Eonsmoke”); ALD Group Ltd. of Shenzhen City, China (“ALD”); Shenzhen Joecig
Technology Co., Ltd. of Shenzhen City, China (“Joecig”); and Vapor 4 Life Holdings, Inc. of
Northbrook, Illinois (“V4L”) (all collectively, “Motion Respondents™). Id.; see also Order No.
26 (May 21, 2019), not reviewed, Notice (June 14, 2019) (amending the complaint and notice of
investigation). The Office of Unfair Import Investigations (“OUIIl™) is also a party to the
investigation. Id.

On June 7, 2019, JLI filed a motion for summary determination of importation and
infringement as to Motion Respondents’ accused products as well as the satisfaction of the
domestic industry requirement. See ID at 1; see also JLI’s Amended Motion for Summary
Determination Regarding Importation, Infringement, and Domestic Industry (“JLI’s Motion™).
On June 14, 2019, JLI filed an amended motion. Id.

On June 26, 2019, ALD and Joecig jointly filed a response in opposition to JLI’s
Motion, but on July 26, 2019, they filed a notice to withdraw the response. ID at 1. No
other Motion Respondents filed a response to JLI’s Motion. /d.

On July 1, 2019, OUII filed a response supporting JLI’s Motion in part. 1D at 2.

On July 8, 2019, JLI filed a motion for leave to file areply. ID at 1-2. The ID grants
JLI leave to file the reply, which is attached to the motion for leave as Exhibit A. Id

On July 19, 2019, JLI filed an update withdrawing JL.I’s Motion as to the importation
requirement for ALD, Joecig, and their accused products. Id. at 1 (n.2).

On August 5, 2019, the ALJ issued the subject ID granting the motion for summary
determination in part. See ID. The ID finds that JLI is entitled to summary determination of
importation with respect to the Ziip Respondents and their accused products; Eonsmoke and
its accused products; and V4L and certain V4L accused products. ID at4-11. The ID’s
analysis of whether the Ziip Respondents’ accused products infringe the Asserted Patents
states, “the question of whether Ziip accused products contain or perform each limitation of
asserted claims is moot.” Id. at 11. The ID does not specifically state whether summary
determination of infringement as to the Ziip Respondents is denied or granted nor the
reasoning supporting grant or denial of the motion as to this issue. Id.

The Commission has determined to review the subject ID in part. Specifically, the

Commission reviews the ID’s analysis as to infringement and statement regarding mootness on
page 11. IDat1l.
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The Commission remands to the ALJ for clarification of the analysis and statement
regarding mootness on page 11, and for clarification as to whether the ID grants or denies ~
summary determination that the Ziip Respondents infringe the Asserted Patents and reasoning in
support thereof. The Commission does not seek further briefing at this time. Further, the
Commission’s review in part and remand does not change the target date for completion of the
investigation.

The authority for the Commission’s determination is contained in section 337 of the
Tariff Act of 1930, as amended, 19 U.S.C. 1337, and in Part 210 of the Commission’s Rules of
Practice and Procedure, 19 CFR Part 210. '

By order of the Commission. .

Lisa R. Barton
Secretary to the Commission

\

Issued: September 4, 2019
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CERTAIN ELECTRONIC NICOTINE DELIVERY SYSTEMS Inv. No. 337-TA-1139
AND COMPONENTS THEREOF '

PUBLIC CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I, Lisa R. Barton, hereby certify that the attached NOTICE has been served by hand
upon the Commission Investigative Attorney, Paul Gennari, Esq., and the following parties as

indicated, on 9/4/2019

Lisa R. Barton, Secretary

U.S. International Trade Commission
500 E Street, SW, Room 112
Washington, DC 20436

On Behalf of Complainants Juul Labs, Inc.:

Daniel E. Yonan, Esq.

[ Via Hand Delivery

STERNE, KESSLER, GOLDSTEIN & FOX, P.L.L.C. Via Express Delivery
1100 New York Avenue, N.W. ] Via First Class Mail

Washington, DC 20005

U1 Other;

On Behalf of Respondent Vapor 4 Life Holdings, Inc:

Eric N. Heyer, Esq.

[ Via Hand Delivery

THOMPSON HINE LLP Via Express Delivery

1919 M Street, N.W.,
Suite 700
Washington, DC 20036

] Via First Class Mail
O Other;

On Behalf of Respondents Eonsmoke, LL.C,

Stephen M. Lobbin, Esq.
SML AVVOCATI P.C.
7538 Draper Avenue

San Diego, California 92037

- (] Via Hand Delivery
Via Express Delivery
[ Via First Class Mail
L] Other:
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CERTAIN ELECTRONIC NICOTINE DELIVERY Inv. No. 337-TA-1139
SYSTEMS AND COMPONENTS THEREOF

Certificate of Service — Page 2

On Behalf of Respondents ZLab S.A., Ziip Lab Co., Limited,
and Shenzhen Yibo Technology Co., Ltd. ‘

Steven Susser Esq. [J Via Hand Delivery
Carlson, Gaskey and Olds, P.C. Via Express Delivery
400 West Maple Road O Via First Class Mail
Suite 350 [ Other:

Birmingham, MI 48009
Respondents:

Keep Vapor Electronic Tech. Co., Ltd. [ Via Hand Delivery
Block D, XinLong Techno Park Via EXPI'CSS Delivery
ShaJing Town, Bao An District (] Via First Class Mail

Shenzhen, China ] Other:
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PUBLIC VERSION

UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C.
In the Matter of
CERTAIN ELECTRONIC NICOTINE Inv. No. 337-TA-1139
DELIVERY SYSTEMS AND
COMPONENTS THEREOF

Order No. 35 (Initial Determination)

On June 7, 2019, pursuant to Commission Rule 210.21(b), complainant Juul Labs, Inc.
(“JLI” or “Juul”) filed a motion for summary determination of importation, infringement, and
domestic industry as to respondents Zlab S.A., SS Group Holdings, and Shenzhen Yibo
Technology Co. Ltd. (collectively “the Ziip respondents” or “Ziip”), Eonsmoke LLC
(“Eonsmoke”), ALD Group Ltd. (“ALD”), Shenzhen Joecig Technology Co., Ltd. (“Joecig”),
and Vapor 4 Life Holdings, Inc. (“V4L” or “Vapor 4 Life”) (all collectively, “respondents”).
Motion Docket No. 1139-51. On June 14, 2019, Juul filed an amended motion. Motion Docket
No. 1139-51.!

On June 26, 2019, ALD and Joecig filed a response in opposition.2 On July 1, 2019, the
Commission investigative attorney (*“Staff”) filed a response supporting the pending motion in

part. No other response was filed. On July 8, 2019, Juul filed a motion for leave to file a reply

I References to the pending motion hereinafter refer to the amended motion filed on June 14,
2019.

2 On July 18, 2019, ALD and Joecig filed a notice to withdraw their opposition to the pending
motion. On July 19, 2019, Juul filed an update pursuant to Ground Rule 5.h, withdrawing the
motion for summary determination that the importation requirement is met for ALD’s and
Joecig’s accused products. Thus, those aspects of the pending motion are moot.
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in support of the pending motion. Motion Docket No. 1139-56. No response was filed. Motion
No. 1139-56 is granted.
Juul argues that it is entitled to summary determination regarding the following issues:

(A) Importation, sale for importation, or sale after importation into the United
States under 19 U.S.C. § 1337(a)(1)(B) for all accused products for all
Respondents;

(B) Infringement of all asserted claims by all accused products for the Ziip
Respondents, Eonsmoke, and V4L;

(C) The technical prong of the domestic industry requirement of 19 U.S.C. §
1337(a)(2) for all asserted patents; and

(D) The economic prong of domestic-industry requirement of 19 U.S.C. §
1337(a)(2) for all asserted patents.
Mot. at 1-2.
The Staff argues:

@) summary determination of importation is appropriate for the following:
a. Ziip Respondents and all of Ziip’s Accused Products;
b. Eonsmoke and all of Eonsmoke’s Accused Products;

c. Vapor 4 Life with respect to the “First Category” of Vapor 4 Life
Accused Products:

d. Vapor 4 Life with respect to the following Second Category of Vapor
4 Life Accused Products: SMOK Infinix device, ViV pod, Sourin
iShare device and Sourin iShare pod;

e. ALD with respect to the XFire devices and XFire pods but only with
respect to the ‘669 patent; and

f. Joecig with respect to Joecig’s Accused Products;

) summary determination of infringement with respect to all Respondents
and each of the asserted patents is not appropriate;

3) summary determination that JLI’s JUUL-system domestic industry
product satisfies the technical prong of the domestic industry requirement
is not appropriate;

“) summary determination that JLI satisfies the economic prong of the
domestic industry requirement under 19 U.S.C. § 1337(a)(3)(A) is not
appropriate.

Staff Resp. at 1-2.
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Section 337 prohibits “[t]he importation into the United States, the sale for importation,
or the sale within the United States after importation by the owner, importer, or consignee, of
articles that (i) infringe a valid and enforceable United States patent ....” 19 U.S.C.

§ 1337(a)(1)XB). A complainant need only prove importation of a single accused product to
satisfy the importation element. See Certain Trolley Wheel Assemblies, Inv. No. 337-TA-161,
Comm’n Op. at 7-8, USITC Pub. No. 1605 (Nov. 1984).

The Commission Rules provide that “[a]ny party may move with any necessary
supporting affidavits for a summary determination in its favor upon all or part of the issues to be
determined in the investigation. 19 C.F.R. § 210.18(a). Summary determination “shall be
rendered if pleadings and any depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file,
together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and
that the moving party is entitled to summary determination as a matter of law.” 19 C.F.R.

§ 210.18(b).

1. Importation

A. The Ziip Respondents

The Ziip Respondents manufacture, import, and sell various accused products. Mot. at 2.
The accused Ziip products are the Ziip devices, Ziip Pods, Plus Pods, Airbender Pods, Iced Pods,
Eonsmoke Pods (also known as Eon Pods), Loon Pods, Mr. Fog Pods, Cali Pods, Delicious Pods,
ViV Pods, Unique Pods, I-pods, Jewel pods, Amo pods, Vape Heads pods, OG pods, Pods pods,
Cigma pods, Salteez pods, Magic Pods, Sonic pods, and Piir Pods. Mot. at 2-3; Statement of
Undisputed Material Fact (“SUMF”), { 4.

Ziip respondents admit that they have manufactured in China and have s'01d for

importation into the United States at least one unit of each of the their accused pod and device
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products after issuance of U.S. Patent Nos. 10,070,669, 10,045,568, 10,058,130, and 10,104,915.
See SUMF, 9 11-12. Indeed, the Ziip respondents have stipulated that they “have imported into
the United States, sold for importation into the United States, or sold within the United States
after importation, within the meaning of 19 U.S.C. § 1337(a)(1)(B), at least one unit of each Ziip
Respondents’ Accused Pod Product and Accused Device Product as of the time of execution of
this Stipulation and after issuance of [the asserted patents].” See Mot. at 14; SUMF, q 13; Mot.
Ex. 7 (5/22/19 Stipulation Regarding Importation, Infringement, Domestic Industry, and Public
Interest (“May 22 Stipulation™)), ] 5, 1, 2. The Staff agrees that Juul is entitled to summary
determination with respect to the importation requirement for the Ziip respondents. See Staff
Resp. at 7.

There is no genuine issue as to any material fact concerning importation with respect to
Ziip’s accused products. Juul is entitled to summary determination as a matter of law that it has
satisfied the importation requirement with respect to all accused products for the Ziip

respondents.

B. Eonsmoke

Eonsmoke is an importer and retailer that sells various accused products manufactured
and/or imported by the Ziip respondents, and other manufacturers. Mot. at 3. The accused
Eonsmoke products are the Eonsmoke devices, Eonsmoke v2.0 devices and pods, Eonsmoke
pods, and 4X pods. See Mot. at 3; SUMF, 9 5, 16.

As discussed below, Eonsmoke admits that it imports and sells after importation the
accused Eonsmoke devices, Eonsmoke pods, and 4X pods. See Mot. at 14; SUMF, q 14-16.

The evidence shows Eonsmoke imports and sells after importation into the United States

the accused 4X pods. See, e.g., Mot. Ex. 4 (EON000001), Mot. Ex. 5 (EON000012 —
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EON000014) (various invoices showing Eonsmoke purchases from China for delivery to Clifton,
New Jersey); Supp. Resp. to RFA Nos. 69, 70, and 77 (admitting that Eonsmoke imports the 4X
pods into the U.S.). SUMF, { 14. Eonsmoke imports and sells after importation into the United
States the accused Eonsmoke devices and pods. See, e.g., Mot. Ex. 6 (Supp. Resp. to RFA Nos.
1, 2, 18, and 19) (admitting that Eonsmoke imports the Eonsmoke devices and pods sold in the
U.S.). SUMF, 9 15. Eonsmoke imports and sells after importation into the United States the
accused Eonsmoke v2.0 devices and pods. See, e.g., Mot. Ex. 6 (Supp. Resp. to RFA Nos. 35,
36, 43-48, 52-53, and 60) (admitting that Eonsmoke sells after importation and imports the
Eonsmoke v2.0 devices and pods). The Staff agrees that Juul is entitled to summary
determination with respect to the importation requirement for Eonsmoke products. See Staff
Resp. at 7-8.

The Staff provided a chart of the Eonsmoke’s admissions relevant to importation of each

of Eonsmoke’s accused products as shown below.

Accused Products
Ex. # Evidence of Admissions

Eonsmoke device 6 RFA 1 (import)
Eonsmoke pods 6 RFA 18 (import)
Eonsmoke v2.0 6 RFA 35 (import)
device RFA 47 (manufactured in China)
Eonsmoke v2.0 pods | 6 RFA 52 (import)

RFA 64 (manufactured in China)
4X pods 6 RFA 69 (import)

Staff Resp. at 8 (footnotes omitted).
There is no genuine issue as to any material fact concerning importation with respect to
Eonsmoke’s accused products. Juul is entitled to summary determination as a matter of law that

it has satisfied the importation requirement with respect to all accused products for Eonsmoke.
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C. Vapor 4 Life

V4L is a reseller of imported products that are manufactured and imported by other
respondents in this investigation. The accused V4L products include the Ziip devices and pods,
Eonsmoke devices, Eonsmoke pods, Plus pods, 4X Pods, and ViV pods. See Mot. at 3; SUMF,
6.

There are two categories of Vapor 4 Life accused products. The first category of accused
products overlap with products of the Ziip respondents and Eonsmoke, given that Vapor 4 Life is
a reseller of products imported either by those respondents or by Vapor 4 Life. These accused
products are: (a) from the Ziip respondents: Ziip Devices, Ziip pods, Ziip’s Plus Pods, and Ziip
Ice Pods, and (b) from Eonsmoke: Eonsmoke devices, Eonsmoke pods, and 4X pods. See Mot.
at 3; SUMF, § 17.

The second category of accused Vapor 4 Life products are those that are not associated
with any other respondent; these are: SMOK Infinix device, SMOK Infinix pod, SMOK Fit
Device, SMOK Fit pod, Sourin iShare device, Sourin iShare pod, Bombz pod, Cync Device, and

Cync Pod. See Mot. at 3; SUMF, 9 18.

First Category

The evidence with respect to the Ziip respondents and Eonsmoke discussed above
demonstrates that the first category of accused products are imported. The Staff provided a chart

of Vapor 4 Life’s admissions for each the first category of accused products as shown below.

Accused Products

Ex. # Evidence of Admissions

Ziip devices 3 Rog 7 (has sold and continues to sell)
Rog 10 (has sold, and continues to sell)

15 Parag. 45 (distributes)
Ziip pods 3 Rog 7 (has sold and continues to sell; and imported)
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Rog 10 (has sold, and continues to sell)
15 Parag. 45 (distributes)

Ziip Plus pods 3 Rog 4 (identifies suppliers)
Rog 7 (sells or has sold)
Ziip Iced pods 27 RFA 639 (imported Ziip pods including Iced pods after
. 10/23/18)
Eonsmoke device 28 RFA 678 (sold after 10/23/18)
Eonsmoke pods 3 Rog 7 (has sold and continues to sell)

Rog 10 (has sold, and continues to sell)
15 Parag. 37 (distributes)

28 RFA 678 (sold after 10/23/18)
RFA 680 (sold after 10/23/18)

4X pods 28 RFA 686 (sold after importation)

3 Rog 7 (has sold and continues to sell)
Rog 10 (has sold, and continues to sell)

3 Rog 4 (Eonsmoke supplied 4X pods)
15 Parag. 37 (distributes)

Staff Resp. at 9-10 (footnotes omitted).

There is no genuine issue as to any material fact concerning importation with respect to
the first category of Vapor 4 Life accused products. Juul is entitled to summary determination as
a matter of law that it has satisfied the importation requirement with respect to the first category

of Vapor 4 Life accused products.

Second Category

As noted above, the second category of accused Vapor 4 Life products are those that are
not associated with any other respondent; these are: SMOK Infinix device, SMOK Infinix pod,
SMOK Fit Device, SMOK Fit pod, ViV pod, Sourin iShare device, Sourin iShare pod, Bombz
pod, Cync Device, and Cync Pod. See Mot. at 3; SUMF, q 18.

The Staff agreed that the evidence supports importation for SMOK Infinix device, ViV
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. Motion Confidential Exhibit 27 (V4L’s Responses to JLI’s 3rd
Set of RFAs) at RFA 318 (admitting importation of the
SMOK Infinix Device before October 23, 2018), RFA 329
(admitting involvement in U.S. sale of SMOK Infinix Devices
after October 23, 2018) RFA 330-331 (admitting SMOK
SMOK Infinix Device Infinix Device is manufactured outside the U.S., in China);
Motion Confidential Exhibit 3 Second Supp. Response to
Interrogatory 4 (listing Chinese supplier); Motion Confidential
Exhibit 28 (V4L’s Responses to JLI’s 4th Set of RFAs) at
RFA 692 (admitting U.S. sale of SMOK Infinix Devices after
October 23, 2018).

Motion Confidential Exhibit 27 (V4L’s Responses to JLI’s 3rd
Set of RFAs) at RFA 350 (admitting importation of the
SMOK Fit Device before October 23, 2018), RFA 361
(admitting involvement in U.S. sale of SMOK Fit Device after
October 23, 2018), RFAs 362-363 (admitting SMOK Fit
SMOK Fit Device Device is manufactured outside the U.S., in China); Motion
Confidential Exhibit 3 Second Supp. Response to
Interrogatory 4 (listing Chinese supplier); Motion Confidential
Exhibit 28 (V4L’s Responses to JLI's 4th Set of RFAs) at
RFA 696 (admitting U.S. sale of SMOK Fit Device after
October 23, 2018).

Motion Confidential Exhibit 27 (V4L’s Responses to JLI’s 3rd

Set of RFAs) at RFA 366 (admitting importation of the
. SMOK Fit Pods before October 23, 2018), RFA 377

(admitting involvement in U.S. sale of SMOK Fit Pods after

: October 23, 2018), RFAs 378-379 (admitting SMOK Fit Pods

SMOK Fit Pods are manufactured outside the U.S., in China); Motion
Confidential Exhibit 3 Second Supp. Response to
Interrogatory 4 (listing Chinese supplier); Motion Confidential
Exhibit 28 (V4L’s Responses to JLI's 4th Set of RFAs) at
RFA 698 (admitting U.S. sale of SMOK Fit Pods after
October 23, 2018).

Motion Confidential Exhibit 27 (V4L’s Responses to JLI’s 3rd
Set of RFAs) at RFA 425 (admitting involvement in U.S. sale
of Bombz Pods after October 23, 2018); Motion Confidential
Exhibit 28 (V4L’s Responses to JLI's 4th Set of RFAs) at
RFA 704 (admitting U.S. sale of Bombz Pods after October
23, 2018).

Bombz Pods
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Motion Confidential Exhibit 27 (V4L’s Responses to JLI’s 3rd
Set of RFAs) at RFA 393 (admitting involvement in U.S. sale
Cyne Device of Cync Device after October 23, 2018); Motion Confidential

Exhibit 28 (V4L’s Responses to JLI’s 4th Set of RFAs) at
RFA 708 (admitting U.S. sale of Cync Device after October
23,2018). .

Motion Confidential Exhibit 27 (V4L’s Responses to JLI’s 3rd
Set of RFAs) at RFA 409 (admitting involvement in U.S. sale
of Bombz Pods after October 23, 2018); Motion Confidential

Cyne Pods Exhibit 28 (V4L’s Responses to JLI’s 4th Set of RFAs) at
RFA 710 (admitting U.S. sale of Cync Device after October
23,2018).

See Reply at 2.

The evidence presented in the above table shows that for SMOK Infinix device, SMOK
Infinix pod, SMOK Fit Device, and SMOK Fit pod, Vapor 4 Life admitted those products.are
manufactured in China and imported into the United States. See e.g., M;)t. Ex. 27 (V4L’s
Responses to JLI’s 3rd Set of RFAs) at RFA 334 (admitting importation of the SMOK Infinix
Pods before October 23, 2018), RFA 345 (admitting involvement in U.S. sale of SMOK Infinix
Pods after October 23, 2018), RFAs 346-347 (admitting SMOK Infinix Pods are manufactured
outside the U.S., in China); Mot. Ex. 3 (Second Supp. Response to Interrogatory 4) (listing
Chinese supplier); Mot. Ex. 28 (V4L’s Responses to JLI’s 4th Set of RFAs) at RFA 694
(admitting U.S. sale of SMOK Infinix Pods after October 23, 2018).

Accordingly, there is no genuine issue as to any material fact concerning importation
with respect to ViV pod, Sourin iShare device, and Sourin iShare pod, SMOK Infinix device,
SMOK Infinix pod, SMOK Fit Device, and SMOK Fit pod. Juul is entitled to summary
determination as a matter of law that it has satisfied the importation requirement with respect to
those products.

However, for Bombz pod, Cync device, and Cync pod, Juul did not submit evidence such

as photographs of the product packaging, demonstrating that the products are made outside the
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U.S. or any admissions that the products are imported. See Reply at 3 (the table only shows
evidence of U.S. sales, not importation). Thus, Juul is not entitled to summary determination as

a matter of law that it has satisfied the importation requirement with respect to those products.

l

2. Infringement

JLI and the Ziip respondents agree that the “Ziip pod” product is representative of all
accused Ziip-manufactured pod products for purposes of infringement of the ‘669, ¢568, 130,
and ‘915 patents. See SUMF, § 36; Mot. Ex. 2 (Joint Stipulation Regarding Representative
Accused Products) at 2.

The Ziip respondents do not contest that their accused pod products, alone or in
combinatibn with a Ziip accused device product or other compatible device, contain or perform
each lim‘itation ofclaims 1,2, 4,5,7,8, 10, 12, 13, 16, 17, 20, and 21 of U.S. Patent No.
10,070,669; claims 1-4, 9-11, 13, 14, 19-21, 24, 28, and 29 of U.S. Patent No. 10,076,139;
claims 1-3, 5-9, 12, and 17-20 of U.S. Patent No. 10,045,568; claims 1, 2, 4-6, 8-10, 16, 19, 21,
and 27 of U.S. Patent No. 10,058,130; and claims 1-4, 6, 9, 11, 12, 18-23, and 27 of U.S. Patent
No. 10,104,915, See SUMEF, q 37; Mot. Ex. 7 (May 22 Stipulation), § 18.

Thus, the question of whether Ziip accused products contain or perform each limitation of

asserted claims is moot. '

3. Remaining Issues

It has not been shown that Juul is entitled to summary determination as a matter of law
with respect to the remaining issues, i.e., (1) infringement of all asserted claims by all accused
products for Eonsmoke and Vapor 4 Life that are not moot; (2) the technical prong of the
domestic industry requirement for all asserted patents; and (3) the economic prong of domestic-

industry requirement for all asserted patents. Eonsmoke and Vapor 4 Life did not agree to a

11
JLI Ex. 2042, Page 369 of 372



stipulation that their products contain or perform each limitation of the asserted claims.
Moreover, as argued by the Staff, there are genuine issues of material fact with respect to the

remaining issues. See Staff Resp. at 28-30.

Accordingly, it is the initial determination of the undersigned that Motion No. 1139-51 is
granted in part to the extent indicated.

Pursuant to 19 C.F.R. § 210.42(h), this initial determination shall become the
determination of the Commission unless a party files a petition for review of the initial
determination pursuant to 19 C.F.R. § 210.43(a), or the Commission, pursuant to 19 C.F.R.

§ 210.44, orders on its own motion a review of the initial determination or certain issues

G

David P. Shaw
Administrative Law Judge

contained herein.?

Issued: August 5, 2019

3 The parties are reminded to comply with Ground Rules 5.n and 5.1.
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CERTAIN ELECTRONIC NICOTINE DELIVERY SYSTEMS AND COMPONENTS
THEREOF
INV.NO. 337-TA-1139

PUBLIC CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I, Lisa R. Barton, hereby certify that the attached Order No. 35 (Initial Determination) has
been served by hand upon the Commission Investigative Attorney, Paul Gennari, Esq., and the
following parties as indicated, on AUG 2 7 2019

g

Lisa R. Barton, Secretary

U.S. International Trade Commission
500 E Street SW, Room 112A
Washington, DC 20436

FOR COMPLAINANT JUUL LABS, INC.:

Daniel E. Yonan, Esq. ( ) Via Hand Delivery
STERNE, KESSLER, GOLDSTEIN & FOX PLLC | ( ) Express Delivery
1100 New York Avenue, NW (Y Via First Class Mail
Washington, DC 20005 ( ) Other:

FOR RESPONDENT VAPOR 4 LIFE HOLDINGS, INC.:

Eric N. Heyer, Esq. ( ) Via Hand Delivery
THOMPSON HINE LLP ( ) Express Delivery
1919 M Street, NW, Suite 700 (v Via First Class Mail
Washington, DC 20036 () Other:

(202)-331-8800

FOR RESPONDENT EONSMOKE, LLC:

Stephen M. Lobbin, Esq. ( ) Via Hand Delivery
SML AVVOCATI P.C. () Express Delivery
7538 Draper Avenue (s/)/ Via First Class Mail
San Diego, CA 92037 ( ) Other:

JLI Ex. 2042, Page 371 of 372



CERTAIN ELECTRONIC NICOTINE DELIVERY SYSTEMS AND COMPONENTS
THEREOF
INV.NO. 337-TA-1139

FOR RESPONDENTS ZLAB S.A.; SS GROUP HOLDINGS; AND SHENZHEN YIBO
TECHNOLOGY CO.,LTD.:
Steven Susser, Esq. ( ) Via Hand Delivery
CARLSON, GASKEY AND OLDS, P.C. ( ) Express Delivery
400 West Maple Road, Suite 350 (~¥ Via First Class Mail
Birmingham, MI 48009 ( ) Other:
RESPONDENT:
Keep Vapor Electronic Tech. Co., Ltd. ( ) Via Hand Delivery
Block D, XinLong Techno Park () Express Delivery
Shaling Town, Bao An District (~) Via First Class Mail
Shenzhen, China ( ) Other:
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